
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Dydd Gwener, 11 Tachwedd 2022 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 

Dydd Llun, 21ain Tachwedd, 2022 at 2.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 

 
 

2.   Datganiadau o Fuddiant 

 
 

3.   Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol 

 
1 - 4 

4.   Dyddiadur y Cyngor - 2023-24 

 
5 - 20 

5.   Adroddiad Drafft y Panel Tâl 2022-23 

 
21 - 46 

6.   Newid y System Bleidleisio – Etholiadau Lleol 

 
47 - 48 

7.   Papur Gwyn - Gweinyddu Etholiadol a Diwygio 

 
49 - 138 

8.   Date of next meeting - 23rd January 2023 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive / Prif Weithredwr 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
County Councillor Tomos Dafydd 
Davies 

Llanfoist & Govilon; Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor Meirion Howells Llanbadoc & Usk; Independent 
County Councillor David Jones Crucorney; Independent Group 
County Councillor Penny Jones Raglan; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Su McConnel Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Maria  Stevens Severn; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Peter Strong Rogiet; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Armand Watts Bulwark and Thornwell; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Laura Wright Grofield; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jill Bond West End; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Rachel Buckler Devauden; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Maureen Powell Pen Y Fal; Welsh Conservative Party 
 
: 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



 

 

 



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 26th September, 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 
  
 
 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor David Jones (Chair) 
County Councillor   Peter Strong (Vice Chair) 
 

 County Councillors: Louise Brown, Tomos Davies, Meirion Howells, 
Penny Jones, Angela Sandles, Maria Stevens, Armand Watts, 
Laura Wright and Tony Easson (substitute for Su McConnel) 
 

 
 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Matt Phillips Chief Officer People and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer 
John Pearson Local Democracy Manager 
Nicola Perry Senior Democracy Officer 

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

Councillors Su McConnel 
 
 
1. Declarations of interest  

 
None. 
 
2. Minutes of the previous meeting  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26th June 2022 were approved as a correct record. 
 
3. Code of Conduct/Standards of Practice - public/officers and public/members  

 
County Councillor Louise Brown was invited to introduce the discussion.  In doing so we heard 
that the request for the discussion was based on the idea that the constitution covers the code 
of conduct between members and officers, but there is no code of conduct or agreed policy for 
interactions between members of the public and officers or members.  It was suggested that a 
policy would be useful when controversial matters arise.   
 
Members were invited to highlight concerns. 
 
County Councillor Armand Watts highlighted that MCC do not allow officers to attend events 
alone, for example, a polling station or consultation events.  He added that in terms of best 
practice we should look at the responsiveness of officers to requests from the public.   
 
It was stated that, overall, where there have been issues between officer/members and 
members of the public the Monitoring Officer has done a great job of providing advice. 
 
County Councillor Peter Strong referenced issues with social media, and the fine line between 
interaction and intimidation. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 26th September, 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 
County Councillor Maria Stevens highlighted issues around anti-social behaviour in her ward 
which had left her feeling vulnerable, in turn she had removed her personal details from public 
view.  
 
The Head of People and Governance and Monitoring Officer explained that MCC have a 
corporate complaint process which is where members of the public can report complaints about 
the Council.  Within that framework there is the ability to deal with individuals who have 
exhausted the complaints process. 
 
County Councillor Brown expressed that more should be done and referred to emails she had 
provided with suggested guidelines and how these had not been looked into. 
 
It was suggested that raising awareness and behaviour notices in public spaces could be 
useful. 
 
The seriousness of the subject was acknowledged, and suggestion made to add this to a future 
agenda, with a view to look at best practice in other authorities.  
 
It was noted that issues were not frequent, and a sense of perspective should be maintained. 
 
 
 
4. Members Support/Information  

 
County Councillor Peter Strong raised an issue brought to him by members regarding how best 
to proceed with casework, including contacting and raising issues with officers.  He added that 
this was in no way a criticism but rather identifying if the system could improve. 
 
It was thought that the pandemic had been disruptive and had created distance, affecting 
communication between officers and members.  It may be useful to reintroduce members to 
officers. 
 
It was suggested that a timeline be introduced for officers dealing with member requests.  
 
There were comments regarding MyMonmouthshire, particularly that the MonMaps is a difficult 
system to use.  The Local Democracy Manager would refer the issues to the digital team. 
 
The Local Democracy Manager highlighted that following the election in May we had held meet 
and greet sessions with officers.  He agreed there was a need to raise awareness of officer 
responsibility. A list of key services and contact details had been circulated to all members in 
May 2022.  He added that the Democratic Services team are always available to help. 
 
It was agreed that further discussion on face to face interactions with officers and a County tour 
would be brought to the next meeting. 
 
 
 
 
   
 
5. Elections Act 2022 - Voter ID  

 
The Local Democracy Manager explained that the government legislation around voter ID is 
coming into effect for English local elections in May 2023, but at any point between now and 

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 26th September, 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 
2025 can come into force in Wales for a general election.  It was brought to the meeting to raise 
awareness of potential impacts. 
 
Voters will be required to attend their polling station with identification, there will be an extensive 
list of acceptable photographic ID, also a list of exempt items.  This could have an impact on the 
number of voters being turned away for not having the required ID. 
 
Those without ID can apply for a certificate to use in place of photographic ID. 
 
Also highlighted: 
 

 Restricting the handling on postal votes 

 Removing the 15 year limit on overseas voters 

 Administering checks within polling stations 
 
The potential of snap general election could cause challenges and bad news stories. 
 
County Councillor Penny Jones noted that the demographic of Monmouthshire would impact the 
issue.  She also noted that administration of voter ID would have impact on the service 
Democratic Services provide for members.  She suggested that members be involved and 
provide information to residents when canvassing. 
 
County Councillor Armand Watts highlighted the groups who would be disenfranchised and 
suggested that we write to the Minister and ask them to refocus on the problems that could be 
encountered. 
 
County Councillor Tomos Davies sympathised with the impact on officers but supported the 
legislation adding that polling stations are vulnerable to voter fraud and voters should feel 
confident when expressing their democratic opinion 
 
The Local Democracy Manager explained that the potential of a negative effect in the press 
would have a negative impact on members. 
 
 
 
6. Forward Work Programme  

 
The Committee noted the forward planner.  To add to the meeting on 21st November 2022 
 

 Code of Conduct  

 Contact Sheet  

 Discussion on the potential to change the councils voting system to STV from first past 
the point 

 Draft diary 2023/24 
  
It was thought the timing of Council meetings should be discussed earlier that June 2023. 
 
 
 
7. Next Meeting - 21st November 2022  

 
Noted. 
 
 

Page 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Democratic Services Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 26th September, 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 

The meeting ended at Time Not Specified  
 

 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

To review the diary of meetings for 2023/24 and to recommend the diary to Council for 

approval.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the diary of meetings for 2023/2024, as attached, be recommended to Council.  
 
That the committee put forward a recommendation for the arrangements for the AGM to full 
council.  

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 
3.1 The diary includes, for information only, dates of meetings for political groups and outside 

bodies that are not agreed by Council and are subject to change by the organising bodies. 
 
3.2 As per previous years, as far as is practicable meetings have not been scheduled during 

school holidays as requested by Councillors. There is an inevitable need to hold some 
meetings during school holidays so that the diary does not become too congested and 
avoids clashes with other meetings and priorities but these have been kept to a minimum.   

 
3.3 The committee considered the issue around timings of meetings of the Council in July 2022 

and agreed that councillors are not yet in an informed position to make a decision on the 
timing of council meetings. The diary has been drafted based on current timings and can be 
amended following the committees review next year.  

 
3.4 Councillors are asked to consider to the timing of the AGM. Traditionally, the AGM has been 

held at 5pm and only dealt with the appointment of the chairman with all other business 
deferred to another meeting of full council two days later. In recent years, members have 
requested that these meetings be combined into a single AGM that replicates a normal 
meeting of full council. For 2022, it was decided to keep the meetings separate to allow 
additional time following the election to consider appointments within the Council.  

 

4. REASONS: 

 The Council calendar needs to be approved annually to ensure appropriate governance 

arrangements are in place for the year and enables Members and officers to forward plan 

effectively. 

 

   

 

SUBJECT:  DIARY OF MEETINGS FOR 2023/24 

MEETING:               Democratic Services Committee 

DATE:             21 November 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:    N/A 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 None as a direct result of this report. 

6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 There are no sustainable development or equality impacts arising from this report. 

 

7. SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 

 There are no safeguarding or corporate parenting implications associated with this report.  

  
8. CONSULTEES: 

Committee Chairs  
Political Group Leaders 

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 None. 

 

10. AUTHOR: 

John Pearson, Local Democracy Manager 
 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:       01633 644212 

 E-mail:     johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Page 6

mailto:johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 
 

1 MAY 2023 - 10 MAY 2024 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

P
age 7



2 

MAY, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
1  
 

2  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

3  
5.00 pm Cabinet  

4  
 

5  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm Individual Cabinet 
Member Decisions  

11  
 

12  
 

15  
 

16  
5.00 pm AGM, County Council  

17  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

18  
2.00 pm County Council  

19  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

25  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

26  
 

29  
School Holiday Start  
Bank Holiday  

30  
  

31  
  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

  
 

  
 

P
age 8



3 

 

JUNE, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

1  
  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  

2  
School Holiday End  

5  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

6  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

7  
5.00 pm Cabinet  

8  
2.00 pm Governance and Audit 
Committee  

9  
 

12  
10.00 am Standards 
Committee  
2.00 pm Democratic Services 
Committee  

13  
10.00 am Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee  

14  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
3.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Standing Advisory Council on 
Religious Education (SACRE)  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

15  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  

16  
 

19  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

20  
11.00 am Corporate Parenting 
Panel  

21  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

22  
12.30 pm Welsh Church Fund  
2.00 pm County Council  

23  
 

26  
10.00 am Joint Advisory Group  

27  
 

28  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

29  
 

30  
 

P
age 9



4 

 

JULY, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

3  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  
2.00 pm Wye Valley AONB 
Joint Advisory Committee  

4  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

5  
5.00 pm Cabinet  

6  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

7  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

13  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  
2.00 pm Governance and Audit 
Committee  

14  
 

17  
11.00 am Monmouthshire Farm 
School Endowment Trust  

18  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

19  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

20  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  

21  
 

24  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

25  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

26  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm Cabinet  

27  
2.00 pm County Council  

28  
 

31  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

P
age 10



5 

 

AUGUST, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

1  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

2  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

3  
 

4  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

10  
 

11  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

17  
 

18  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

24  
 

25  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

31  
 

  
 

P
age 11



6 

 

SEPTEMBER, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

1  
 

4  
 

5  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

6  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

7  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

8  
 

11  
 

12  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

13  
3.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Standing Advisory Council on 
Religious Education (SACRE)  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

14  
12.30 pm Welsh Church Fund  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

15  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

21  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  

22  
 

25  
10.00 am Joint Advisory Group  

26  
 

27  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

28  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

29  
 

P
age 12



7 

 

OCTOBER, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

2  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

3  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

4  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

5  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

6  
 

9  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Standards Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Democratic Services 
Committee  

10  
 

11  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

12  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  

13  
 

16  
11.00 am Monmouthshire Farm 
School Endowment Trust  

17  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

18  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

19  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

20  
 

23  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

24  
11.00 am Corporate Parenting 
Panel  

25  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

26  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

27  
 

30  
School Holiday Start  

31  
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

P
age 13



8 

 

NOVEMBER, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

1  
  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

2  
  

3  
School Holiday End  

6  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  
2.00 pm Wye Valley AONB 
Joint Advisory Committee  

7  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

8  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

9  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

10  
 

13  
10.00 am Joint Advisory Group  

14  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

15  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

16  
 

17  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

23  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

24  
 

27  
 

28  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

29  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

30  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  

  
 

P
age 14



9 

 

DECEMBER, 2023 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

1  
 

4  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

5  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

6  
3.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Standing Advisory Council on 
Religious Education (SACRE)  

7  
12.30 pm Welsh Church Fund  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

8  
 

11  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

12  
 

13  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

14  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

15  
 

18  
 

19  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

20  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

21  
 

22  
 

25  
Bank Holiday  

26  
Bank Holiday  

27  
Bank Holiday  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

28  
 

29  
 

P
age 15



10 

 

JANUARY, 2024 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
1  
Bank Holiday  

2  
 

3  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

4  
 

5  
 

8  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

9  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

10  
 

11  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

12  
 

15  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

16  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

17  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

18  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

19  
 

22  
10.00 am Joint Advisory Group  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Democratic Services 
Committee  

23  
11.00 am Corporate Parenting 
Panel  

24  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

25  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  

26  
 

29  
11.00 am Monmouthshire Farm 
School Endowment Trust  

30  
 

31  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

  
 

  
 

P
age 16



11 

 

FEBRUARY, 2024 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

1  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

2  
 

5  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

6  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

7  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

8  
 

9  
 

12  
School Holiday Start  

13  
  

14  
  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

15  
  

16  
School Holiday End  

19  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

20  
 

21  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

22  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  

23  
 

26  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Standards Committee  

27  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  

28  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

29  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

  
 

P
age 17



12 

 

MARCH, 2024 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

1  
 

4  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  
2.00 pm Wye Valley AONB 
Joint Advisory Committee  

5  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

6  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

7  
12.30 pm Welsh Church Fund  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

8  
 

11  
 

12  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

13  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
3.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Standing Advisory Council on 
Religious Education (SACRE)  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

14  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

15  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

21  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Performance and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee  

22  
 

25  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Public Services Scrutiny 
Committee  

26  
 

27  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

28  
 

29  
Bank Holiday  

P
age 18



13 

 

APRIL, 2024 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
1  
Bank Holiday  

2  
Bank Holiday  

3  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

4  
 

5  
 

8  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

9  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee  
11.00 am Corporate Parenting 
Panel  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning Committee  

10  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Cabinet  

11  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Scrutiny Chairs Meeting  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Governance and Audit 
Committee  

12  
 

15  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Democratic Services 
Committee  

16  
 

17  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

18  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
County Council  

19  
 

22  
10.00 am Joint Advisory Group  

23  
 

24  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

25  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
Place Scrutiny Committee  

26  
 

29  
9.00 am Planning Site Visit  

30  
10.00 am PROVISIONAL - 
People Scrutiny Committee  

  
 

  
 

  
 

P
age 19



14 

 

MAY, 2024 
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 
  
 

  
 

1  
2.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Planning - Delegated Panel 
Meeting  

2  
9.00 am Children and Young 
People Appointment of Local 
Authority Governors Committee  

3  
 

6  
Bank Holiday  

7  
2.00 pm Planning Committee  

8  
5.00 pm PROVISIONAL - 
Individual Cabinet Member 
Decisions  

9  
 

10  
 

 

P
age 20



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

To note the contents of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales draft report  2023-

2024. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Councillors note the determinations of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
and consider responding to the consultation on the contents.  

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 
3.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) are a body appointed by Welsh 

Government tasked with setting the level of remuneration for all councillors across Wales. 
A report is published annually that sets out the level of remuneration for all Councillors.  

 
3.2 Attached to this report is the IRPW draft report for 2023-24 setting out the recommended 

levels of remuneration for the next year of Council.  
 
3.3 The main changes within the report are:  

 County Councillor basic salary to increase from £16,800 to £17,600. A 4.76% 
increase in the basic salary 

 Small uplifts to the senior salaries payable to councillors holding specific posts 

 Changes to the remuneration for community/town councillors.  
 
3.4 The IRPW are consulting on the proposed changes and stakeholders have until the 1st 

December 2022 to respond. 
 

4. REASONS: 

 The IRPW are an independent body appointed by Welsh Government to set the level of 

remuneration for councillors across. Their role is to ensure there is sufficient levels of 

remuneration are available to councillors to attract people from all different backgrounds to 

stand for election.  

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 The budget for the basic salaries of all councillors is currently £772,800 for 2022-23 and 

will increase to £818,000 for 2023-24 based on the contents of the draft report. This will 

create a budget pressure of £45,200.  

 

Additional costs relating to the increase in senior salaries are negligible as much of the 

change is a result of the increase in the basic salary element.  

SUBJECT:  DRAFT IRPW REPORT 23-24 

MEETING:               Democratic Services Committee 

DATE:             21 November 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:    N/A 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

Community & Town councils will need to consider their budgets in light of the contents of 

the draft report which may impact on the level of precept put forward by them for the next 

financial year. 

  

6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 There are no sustainable development or equality impacts arising from this report. 

 

7. SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 

 There are no safeguarding or corporate parenting implications associated with this report.  

  
8. CONSULTEES: 

Democratic Services Committee 
 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 IRPW Draft Report 2023-24 

 

10. AUTHOR: 

John Pearson, Local Democracy Manager 
 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:       01633 644212 

 E-mail:     johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Page 22

mailto:johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk


REPORT

Independent Remuneration
Panel for Wales: draft annual
report 2023 to 2024
Sets the range and level of payments for the financial year
2023 to 2024.

First published: 6 October 2022

Last updated: 6 October 2022

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 23

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Contents
Introduction

Role and responsibilities of the Panel

Summary of deliberations and determinations

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 24

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Introduction

Welcome to the draft report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales,
setting the decisions and determinations on pay, expenses and benefits for
elected members of principal councils, community and town councils, national
park authorities and fire and rescue authorities for implementation from April
2023.

This is my first report as Chair of the Panel, having been appointed in June this
year. I would like to take this opportunity to thank John Bader, the outgoing
Chair, for his service over many years and who led the Panel through 2
significant pieces of work last year ,the Independent 10 year review of the Panel
and restoring the link between elected members salaries and average earnings
in Wales. I also thank Joe Stockley for his service and I am pleased to announce
the appointment of Bev Smith in June this year. Saz Willey, Vice Chair, and Ruth
Glazzard have continued to lead the work of the Panel during this period of
change and I thank them for the support they have given both Bev and I, as new
members.

This year the Panel has continued to focus on and take forward the
recommendations from the 10 year review. There are 4 key strands to this work ,
review the way we work, set out a 3 year strategy for the Panel, improve how we
communicate and engage with stakeholders and build a robust evidence base to
inform decisions.

We have embarked on the recommended effectiveness review of the way we
work and have started developing our longer-term strategy with a panel
development day in August. We have agreed that our mission should be to
deliver a fair and accountable reward framework for Wales’ communities to have
their voices heard within our democracy. We will use our expertise and
professionalism to build trusting, sustainable partnerships to inform our work and
deliver the changes Wales needs.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 25

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


We aim to improve the way we communicate and engage both with our
immediate stakeholders and the general public. As a first step we now publish a
summary of our monthly meetings on our website, but recognise there is much
more to do. We aim to improve the accessibility and ease of use of our website
and develop it into a more useful resource tool for people. We intend it to be an
easy to use store of information on our determinations, and, building on our
current frequently asked questions page, develop our guidance on how all
decisions should be applied.

Whilst we are an independent body, we will continue to work collaboratively with
key stakeholders engaged in promoting participation in local democracy. We
look forward to participating in the forthcoming events hosted by the Welsh
Government and Minister for Finance and Local Government, to share
knowledge, experience, and best practice across a range of subjects related to
the role of a councillor to develop a shared understanding of how we can take
collective action to increase diversity in local democracy.

The Welsh Government will soon be publishing research which explores the
barriers to standing for elected office and the changing role of the councillor and
is developing a programme of work around the role of the community and town
councils.

The Panel has decided that this year will be a year of consolidation. Major
changes were put in place last year, and a significant uplift in salary levels was
agreed. We wish to allow time for last year’s determinations to bed in and to
allow the Panel to continue its development of a research and evidence base to
inform future decisions and move to a longer term planning cycle. This report
reflects that decision.

During the past few years, we have been considering the structure of our reports
and how we can make them more accessible to all. We have concluded that
much of the information published replicates previous years, often without
significant change. For this report we decided to focus on the changes made as

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 26

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


a result of the proposals. We have therefore decided that the majority of the
content set out in previous reports will be removed from the report and placed on
the Panel’s website. We will make arrangements for those who are unable to
access the website.

This change has significantly reduced the size of the report and made it more
manageable to navigate. This approach is also in line with our efforts to respect
the challenges facing us in protecting our planet.

This is a work in progress, and we would be interested in your views about this
approach and so have specifically asked for some feedback as part of our
consultation questions at the end of the report.

Panel Membership

• Frances Duffy, Chair
• Saz Willey, Vice Chair
• Ruth Glazzard
• Bev Smith

Detailed information about the members can be found on the Panel website.

Role and responsibilities of the Panel

Role of the Panel

The Panel is responsible for setting the levels and arrangements for the
remuneration of members of the following organisations:

• principal councils, county and county borough councils

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 27

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


• community and town councils
• national park authorities
• fire and rescue authorities
• corporate joint committees

The Panel is an independent body and is able to make decisions about:

• the salary structure within which members are remunerated
• the type and nature of allowances to be paid to members
• whether payments are mandatory or allow a level of local flexibility
• arrangements in respect of family absence
• arrangements for monitoring compliance with the Panel’s decisions

The Panel is an independent organisation and the organisations listed above are
required, by law, to implement the decisions it makes.

The Panel is also consultee for proposed changes to the pay of principal council
Chief Executives.

Principles

The work of the Panel is underpinned by a set of principles which guides its
approach, methodology and decision making. They are:

• upholding trust and confidence: citizens rightly expect that all those who
choose to serve in local authorities uphold the public trust by embracing the
values and ethics implicit in such public service

• simplicity: the Framework is clear and understandable
• remuneration: the Framework provides for payment to members of

authorities who carry a responsibility for serving their communities. The level
of payment should not act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in the post

• diversity: democracy is strengthened when the membership of authorities

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 28

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


adequately reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the
communities such authorities serve

• accountability: taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for
money from public funds committed to the remuneration of those who are
elected, appointed or co-opted to serve in the public interest

• fairness: the Framework will be capable of being applied consistently to
members of all authorities within the Panel’s remit as a means of ensuring
that levels of remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable

• quality: the Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny
and regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage
with a process of continuous quality improvement

• transparency: transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public
interest

Summary of deliberations and determinations

Methodology

Each year the Panel engages with members of the bodies for which it sets
remuneration levels, officers within those organisations, clerks, Welsh Local
Government Association, One Voice Wales and the Society for Local Council
Clerks. It does this through a range of meetings which, at the moment, remain
mostly online. The Panel will continue with these discussions. They provide an
opportunity for the Panel to explore views about existing arrangements, the
impact decisions are having on individuals, how the arrangements are operating
in practice and any issues or concerns individuals wish to raise. It also provides
an opportunity for discussion about emerging situations which the Panel may
need to consider in respect of its decision making.

The draft report is published widely and members of the public are encouraged
to and have provided valuable feedback and we welcome this.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 29

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


The Panel also considers feedback from the publishing of the Annual Report in
the previous year. The changes made in last year’s Report, in particular the uplift
in the basic salary, seem to have been well received by stakeholders. The
issues raised with the Panel have all been centred around the detail of the
Determinations, asking for guidance on how they should be applied or asking for
points of clarification where the text of the Report was unclear.

The Panel has therefore agreed to review the format and structure of the main
Report and make better use of the Panel website to provide information and
guidance.

The Panel has a duty to set payments that are fair and that encourage and
enable democratic participation. It must also take account of affordability and
acceptability.

In making its determinations for this Draft Report, the Panel considered a range
of benchmarks, including past, current and projected indices and actual figures
and the known and forecast extent and impact of multiple economic and social
factors. These included post Brexit and COVID work environments and the cost
of living, energy and climate crises.

The Panels proposals are consulted on and following consideration of the views
received in response to its consultation the Panel makes its final determinations
which are published each year in its Annual Report.

Panel’s Determinations for 2023 to 2024

Basic salary for elected members of principal councils: determination
1

The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 30

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny,
regulatory and related functions of local governance. It is based on a full time
equivalent of 3 days a week. The Panel regularly reviews this time commitment
and no changes are proposed for 2023 to 2024.

Last year the Panel reset the basic salary to align with the 2020 Annual Survey
of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) published by the Office of National Statistics.
This reduced the imbalance that had arisen between the basic salary of
members of principal councils and the average salaries of their constituents. The
change took effect from the May 2022 local elections. The rationale for this
significant step can be found in last year’s Annual Report and a detailed
explanatory paper setting out the historical context and analysis is available on
the Panel’s website.

Building on this decision the Panel has determined that for the financial year 1
April 2023 to 31 March 2024 it is right to retain a link between the basic salary of
councillors and the average salaries of their constituents. The basic salary will
be aligned with 3 fifths of the all Wales 2021 ASHE, the latest figure available at
drafting. This will be £17,600. This will represent a 4.76% increase in the basic
salary.

Salaries paid to Senior, Civic and Presiding members of principal
councils: determination 2

The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (“the cap”) will remain in
place. At the 2022 local elections boundary reviews changed the number of
members for some councils. The Panel adjusted the senior salary cap for these
councils in its 2022 to 2023 Annual Report. As there are no further changes for
2023 to 2024, the maximum number of senior salaries payable within each
council remains as set out in the 2022 to 2023 Report.

All senior salaries include the basic salary payment. The different levels of

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 31

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2020
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/an-historical-overview-of-irpw-determinations-on-members-salaries.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2021
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023-html
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


additional responsibility of and between each role is recognised in a banded
framework. The framework was revised last year after a review of differentials
and market comparators. No changes to banding are proposed this year. Early
next year the Panel will gather evidence from principal councils to explore
whether and how the workload of elected members has changed.

The ASHE 2021 increase applies to the role element of Band 1 and Band 2
salaries, leader, deputy leader and executive members.

To complete the last year’s realignment of the framework, Band 3 and Band 4
salary holders will receive a small increase to the role element of their pay and
the role element of Band 5 pay will remain frozen. The increase in basic salary
will apply.

The salary of a leader of the largest (Group A) council will therefore be £66,000.
All other payments have been decided in reference to this and are set out in
Table 1.

Table 1: salaries payable to basic, senior, civic and presiding
members of principal councils

Group A

• Cardiff
• Rhondda Cynon Taf
• Swansea

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 32

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2020
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Description

Remuneration

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £17,600

Band 1: leader £66,000

Band 1: deputy leader £46,200

Band 2: executive members £39,600

Band 3: committee chairs, civic head and presiding officer (if
remunerated)

£26,400

Band 4: leader of the largest opposition group £26,400

Band 5: leader of other political groups and deputy civic head £21,340

Band 5: deputy presiding member (no role payment) £17,600

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 33

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Group B

• Bridgend
• Caerphilly
• Carmarthenshire
• Conwy
• Flintshire
• Gwynedd
• Newport
• Neath Port Talbot
• Pembrokeshire
• Powys
• Vale of Glamorgan
• Wrexham

Description

Remuneration

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £17,600

Band 1: leader £59,400

Band 1: deputy leader £41,580

Band 2: executive members £35,640

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 34

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Remuneration

Band 3: committee chairs, civic head and presiding officer (if
remunerated)

£26,400

Band 4: leader of the largest opposition group £26,400

Band 5: leader of other political groups and deputy civic head £21,340

Band 5: deputy presiding member (no role payment) £17,600

Group C

• Blaenau Gwent
• Ceredigion
• Denbighshire
• Merthyr Tydfil
• Monmouthshire
• Torfaen
• Isle of Anglesey

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 35

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Description

Remuneration

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £17,600

Band 1: leader £56,100

Band 1: deputy leader £39,270

Band 2: executive members £33,660

Band 3: committee chairs, civic head and presiding officer (if
remunerated)

£26,400

Band 4: leader of the largest opposition group £26,400

Band 5: leader of other political groups and deputy civic head £21,340

Band 5: deputy presiding member (no role payment) £17,600

There are no further changes to the payments and benefits paid to elected
members and therefore all other Determinations from 2022 to 2023 still stand
and should be applied in 2023 to 2024, including those covering:

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 36

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


• travel and subsistence
• care and personal assistance
• sickness absence
• corporate joint committees
• assistants to the executive
• additional salaries and job sharing arrangements
• co-opted Members

Salaries for joint overview and scrutiny committees: determination 3

The salary of a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be £8,800.

The salary of vice-chair will be £4,400.

There are no other changes.

Payments towards costs and expenses of members of community
and town councils: determination 4

Last year the Panel carried out a major review of the remuneration framework
for community and town councils and undertook a comprehensive consultation
exercise with the sector. The Framework was updated then and this year the
Panel has decided to make limited but important changes.

The Panel recognise that all members of community and town councils
necessarily spend time working from home on council business. This was the
case before and during COVID and is continuing. As a result, members have
extra domestic costs and also need office consumables.

The Panel considers members should not be out of pocket for carrying out their
duties. It therefore proposes the following.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 37

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Basic payment for extra costs of working from home

All councils must pay their members £156 a year (equivalent to £3 a week)
towards the extra household expenses (including heating, lighting, power and
broadband) of working from home.

Set payment for consumables

Councils must either pay their members £52 a year for the cost of office
consumables required to carry out their role, or alternatively councils must
enable members to claim full reimbursement for the cost of their office
consumables.

It is a matter for each council to make and record a policy decision in respect of
when and how the payments are made and whether they are paid monthly,
yearly or otherwise. The policy should also state whether and how to recover
any payments made to a member who leaves or changes their role during the
financial year.

The level of payments is set out in Table 2.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 38

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Table 2: payments to community and town councils

Type of payment Group Requirement

Extra costs payment 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Mandatory for all members

Senior role 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Mandatory for 1 member;
optional for up to 7

Mayor or chair 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Optional: up to a maximum of
£1,500

Deputy mayor or deputy
chair

1 (Electorate over 14,000) Optional: up to a maximum of
£500

Attendance allowance 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Optional

Financial loss 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Optional

Travel and subsistence 1 (Electorate over 14,000) Optional

Costs of care or personal
assistance

1 (Electorate over 14,000) Mandatory

Extra costs payment 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Mandatory for all members

Senior role 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Mandatory for 1 member;
optional up to 5

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 39

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Mayor or chair 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£1,500

Deputy mayor or deputy
chair

2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£500

Attendance allowance 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Optional

Financial loss 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Optional

Travel and subsistence 2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Optional

Costs of care or personal
assistance

2 (Electorate over 10,000
to 13,999)

Mandatory

Extra costs payment 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Mandatory for all members

Senior role 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional up to 3 members

Mayor or chair 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£1,500

Deputy mayor or deputy
chair

3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£500

Attendance allowance 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 40

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Financial loss 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional

Travel and subsistence 3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Optional

Costs of care or personal
assistance

3 (Electorate over 5,000
to 9,999)

Mandatory

Extra costs payment 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Mandatory for all members

Senior role 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional up to 3 members

Mayor or chair 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£1,500

Deputy mayor or deputy
chair

4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£500

Attendance allowance 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional

Financial loss 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional

Travel and subsistence 4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Optional

Cost of care or personal
assistance

4 (Electorate over 1,000
to 4,999)

Mandatory

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 41

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Basic costs payment 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Mandatory for all members

Senior role 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional up to 3 members

Mayor or chair 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£1,500

Deputy mayor or deputy
chair

5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional: up to a maximum of
£500

Attendance allowance 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional

Financial loss 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional

Travel and subsistence 5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Optional

Cost of care or personal
allowance

5 (Electorate less than
1,000)

Mandatory

There are no further changes to the payments and benefits paid to elected
members and therefore all other Determinations from 2022 to 2023 still stand
and should be applied in 2023 to 2024, including those covering:

• payments for undertaking senior roles
• contributions towards costs of care and personal assistance
• reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs
• compensation for financial loss

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 42

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


• attendance allowance
• co-opted members

Payments to national parks authorities and fire and rescue
authorities: determination 5

The 3 national parks in Wales: Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and
Snowdonia were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide
recreation opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the
creation of a national park authority (NPA) for each park.

National park authorities comprise members who are either elected members
nominated by the principal councils within the national park area or are members
appointed by the Welsh Government through the Public Appointments process.
The Welsh Government appointed and council nominated members are treated
equally in relation to remuneration.

The 3 fire and rescue services (FRAs) in Wales: Mid and West Wales, North
Wales and South Wales were formed as part of local government re-
organisation in 1996. FRAs comprise elected members who are nominated by
the Principal Councils within each fire and rescue service area.

Payments will increase as a result of the uplift proposed for elected members of
principal councils. Therefore, there will also be an uplift of 4.76% in the basic
salary element.

The remuneration for Chairs will remain linked to a Band 3 senior salary of
principal councils. Therefore there will be a small increase to the role element of
their pay. Deputy Chairs, Committee Chairs and other senior roles will remain
linked to Band 5. Therefore their role element of pay will remain frozen. The
increase in basic salary will apply. Full details of the levels of remuneration for
members of national park authorities and fire and rescue authorities, is set out in

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 43

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/contents
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Table 3.

Table 3: payments to national parks authorities and fire and rescue
authorities

National parks authorities

Amount

Basic salary for ordinary member £4,964

Chair £13,764

Deputy chair (where appointed) £8,704

Committee chair or other senior post £8,704

Fire and rescue authorities

Amount

Basic salary for ordinary member £2,482

Chair £11,282

Deputy chair (where appointed) £6,222

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 44

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Amount

Committee chair or other senior post £6,222

All other Determinations for 2022 to 2023 will still stand and should be applied in
2023 to 2024, including those covering:

• contributions towards costs of care and personal assistance
• reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs
• compensation for financial loss
• co-opted members
• restrictions on receiving double remuneration where a member holds more

than one post

This document may not be fully accessible.
For more information refer to our accessibility statement.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html for
the latest version.
Get information on copyright. Page 45

https://gov.wales/accessibility-statement-govwales
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

To agree methodology for reviewing and gauging members appetite for a change to the 

voting system for local elections.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Councillors agree to the process set out below for sharing the information on the 
change with all councillors and determine whether the item should be put to full council.   

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 
3.1 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2022 (the Act), included provisions to 

enable local authorities to change its voting system from first past the post to a system of 
single transferable vote. Those provisions took effect following the elections in May 2022 
and local authorities can consider the issue ahead of the next local elections scheduled for 
2027. The voting system would be in place for County Council and Community/Town Council 
elections.  

 
3.2 Local authorities have until 15 November 2024 to agree to change their voting system 

however a number of administrative processes are required, including a full electoral review 
for all of Monmouthshire, following the decision to change the system and ahead of the next 
election.  

 
3.3 In order for Council to agree to the change, a special meeting of full council is required giving 

at least 21 days notice of the meeting and the vote will need a two thirds majority in favour 
of the change for it to be approved. Local authorities are also required to consult with voters, 
community and town councils and anyone else it deems appropriate on the changes.  

 
3.4 If a change to the voting system is agreed, the Council is unable to revert to first-past-post 

for two full terms of council.  
 
3.5 Given the current political balance of the Council, it may be difficult for the decision to gain 

a two-thirds majority. Therefore it is proposed that a survey of all councillors is undertaken 
to ascertain the level of support for the change before determining whether or not the 
decision should be put before full council.  

 
3.6 To assist councillors with the change, an all members seminar will be held providing further 

information on the change to the voting system, the processes involved and the impact the 
change will have.  

 

SUBJECT: LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS ACT – CHANGE OF 

VOTING SYSTEM 

MEETING:               Democratic Services Committee 

DATE:             21 November 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:    N/A 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



3.7 Once the seminar and survey are complete and an indication of the level of support for the 
change is gathered, a timetable will be drafted to conduct the relevant consultation and 
notice period for the full council meeting to be held to consider the change.  

 

4. REASONS: 

 To consider the implications of the changes within the Act and identify the level of support 

for the change in the voting system.  

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 None 

  

6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 There are no sustainable development or equality impacts arising from this report. 

 

7. SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 

 There are no safeguarding or corporate parenting implications associated with this report.  

  
8. CONSULTEES: 

Democratic Services Committee 
 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 Local Government and Elections Act 2021 

 

10. AUTHOR: 

John Pearson, Local Democracy Manager 
 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:       01633 644212 

 E-mail:     johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Page 48

mailto:johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk


OPEN CONSULTATION

Consultation on the electoral
administration and reform
White Paper
We are seeking your views on our proposals for electoral
reform to modernise the electoral administration in Wales.

First published: 11 October 2022

Last updated: 11 October 2022

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 49

Agenda Item 7

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Contents
Ministerial foreword

Chapter 1: introduction

Chapter 2: long term vision for devolved elections

Chapter 3: simplifying electoral registration in Wales

Chapter 4: strengthening electoral administration

Chapter 5: building democratic health

Chapter 6: modernising Welsh elections

Chapter 7: improving our democracy

Consultation questions

How to respond

Your rights

Further information and related documents

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 50

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Ministerial foreword

I am proud of the progress we have made in the 5 years since the UK
Parliament devolved responsibility for local and Senedd elections, through the
Wales Act 2017. We have legislated to lower the voting age to 16, giving
younger people a say in the running of their country. We enfranchised qualifying
foreign nationals, in recognition of the contribution made by everyone who has
made Wales their home.

We have also begun to lay the foundations for a 21st century voting system,
including greater use of digital tools in the May 2022 local elections, and a clear
set of principles to guide our longer-term programme of reform: equity,
accessibility, participation, improving citizen experience, simplicity and integrity.

These are fundamental principles that lie behind our vision for elections in
Wales. They reflect this government’s clear priority to increase voter
participation and ensure that every citizen is able to play their full part in our
democracy. They also stand in contrast to many of the actions pursued by the
UK Government, which seem designed to make it harder for people to vote in
UK elections.

This document gives more detail on our priorities in progressing our vision. This
is a long-term vision, and not everything in this paper will be delivered overnight.
This document is not about the new arrangements that the Senedd has voted for
itself to allow it to better serve the people of Wales, but many of the propositions
contained here help elections run more smoothly and bring the Senedd’s
Members ever closer to the public.

In introducing our vision for the future, I want to thank 2 groups of people in
particular: first, every person who puts themselves forward to work for their
community. The overwhelming majority of people are genuinely motivated by
public service, and we see this at work each day in communities across Wales.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 51

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Second, the people who work so hard behind the scenes throughout the year to
make sure our democratic processes work smoothly.

Mick Antoniw MS.

Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution.

Chapter 1: introduction

Devolved elections policy

Responsibility for elections to local government and to the Senedd were
devolved through the Wales Act 2017. Throughout this document these are
referred to as “devolved elections”. The Westminster Government is responsible
for policy relating to elections to the House of Commons and for Police and
Crime Commissioner elections, which are referred to as “reserved elections”
throughout this document.

In 2017, the Welsh Government consulted on immediate priorities for reform in
the Electoral Reform in Local Government in Wales White Paper. This
included lowering the voting age for devolved elections to 16 and enfranchising
more foreign nationals resident in Wales.

These immediate priorities were legislated for through the Senedd and
Elections (Wales) Act 2020 and the Local Government and Elections
(Wales) Act 2021. As a consequence of these 2 Acts, a number of changes
have been made for devolved elections, including:

• the franchise has been extended to 16 and 17 year olds, and qualifying
foreign nationals

• local authorities can decide to adopt the Single Transferrable Vote system

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 52

https://gov.wales/electoral-reform-local-government-wales
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


for their elections, in place of the First Past the Post system. Draft rules for
STV elections will be published for consultation soon. Any Council looking to
change its voting system must consult locally and pass a resolution by two-
thirds of all its members by November 2024, if it wishes to introduce STV for
the 2027 ordinary elections

• updating the disqualification regime so that local government employees
who are not in politically restricted posts can stand for election to their own
councils without having to resign first

The time is now right to accelerate our reform agenda and start to realise our
ambitions to modernise electoral administration in Wales. In the 2021
Programme for Government, the Welsh Government committed to “reforming
local government elections to reduce the democratic deficit”. This White Paper
sets out what those reforms will entail, but many of the propositions will also
support improvements to Senedd Elections.

Framework for electoral reform

On 15 July 2021 Mick Antoniw MS, the Counsel General and Minister for the
Constitution, published a Written Statement setting out the Welsh
Government’s framework for electoral reform. This explained how the Welsh
Government would respond to UK-wide reform being taken forward by the
Westminster Government, and what would underpin future reform for devolved
elections.

Central to this framework were the following 6 principles, which the Welsh
Government will use to benchmark electoral reform and guide our work to
support democratic engagement and participation. These principles reflect how
a resilient electoral system is part of our efforts to improve outcomes for all
people, including the National Goals of the Wellbeing of Future Generations
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Anti-racist Wales Action Plan. We invite comments
on these principles.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 53

https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-update
https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-update
https://gov.wales/written-statement-framework-electoral-reform
https://gov.wales/anti-racist-wales-action-plan
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


1. Equity: every person that wishes to participate in democracy must be
enabled to do so, and to do so in a safe and respectful environment, so that
our institutions are diverse and representative of the people they serve.

2. Accessibility: changes to electoral systems and electoral law should be
based on the principle of making voting and participation in democracy as
accessible and convenient as possible, building capacity to allow that to
happen and encouraging creativity at every level of democracy.

3. Participation: we want as many people as possible to exercise their
democratic right to vote. It is the role of everyone involved in electoral
administration to maximise the number of people turning out at elections.

4. Improving citizen experience: citizens should be provided with the tools to
shape their communities and country through engagement, representation
and participation.

5. Simplicity: the administrative electoral system and electoral law in Wales
must be modernised to make registering to vote, voting and participating
more straightforward for citizens.

6. Integrity: integrity and transparency must underpin all electoral reforms in
Wales. We must have a system that citizens trust and a sharing of
information from legitimate sources.

Senedd reform

Alongside the Programme for Government’s commitment to electoral reform, the
Welsh Government has agreed to take forward Senedd Reform, as part of its
Co-operation Agreement with Plaid Cymru.

In June 2022, the Senedd voted to endorse the recommendations contained in
Reforming our Senedd: A stronger voice for the people of Wales, the report
of the cross-party Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform (SPC). The
Welsh Government is working to prepare legislation to implement these

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 54

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39531
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


recommendations. This includes 16 new constituencies for the Senedd, each
returning 6 members through the d’Hondt system currently used for Senedd
regions, and commitments to ensure diversity of membership.

The legislation to implement the Senedd’s agreed reforms is not the subject of
this White Paper, but there are areas where this White Paper takes account of
the new arrangements for Senedd elections and broader changes that would
support the new system.

Structure of White Paper

This White Paper first sets out the longer-term vision for electoral reform. It
seeks views on what changes may be desirable in the future and should be
considered further by the Welsh Government. Chapters then set out aspects of
more immediate reform, first to simplify electoral registration and more clearly
identify the Welsh electorate in chapter 3, then proposals to improve the
administration of devolved elections in chapter 4, approaches to support voters
and candidates participate in elections are set out at chapter 5, ways that
elections can be modernised to take account of new technology and citizen
demands are at chapter 6, and finally chapter 7 sets out broader improvements
to how local democracy operate beyond elections.

We want to know your views on all aspects of this document but have also
indicated areas of the document likely to be of particular interest to different
people to make it easier for you to respond. Electoral administrators might want
to focus on chapters 3, 4 and 6 outlining our proposals for simplifying electoral
registration, strengthening electoral administration and modernising Welsh
elections. Voters could look in particular at parts of chapters 3, 5 and 6 covering
our proposals for automatic registration, improving student and young people
registration, and improving access to the democratic process. Candidates and
elected members will be interested in much of chapter 4 on strengthening
electoral administration and parts of chapters 5 and 7 in particular proposals on

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 55

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


candidate safety, improving diversity, training for elected members and rules
about councillors serving as members of the Senedd.

Chapter 2: long term vision for devolved
elections

This White Paper sets out our proposals for immediate reform of devolved
elections. It is an important milestone on a longer-term journey. In the future, we
have further ambitions.

Consolidating the law for accessibility and simplicity

We hold an ambition to consolidate the statute book for Wales where we can, to
deliver an accessible, bilingual legislative framework. We are taking the steps
below to consolidate electoral law in Wales for devolved elections, as part of our
longer term goal of modernising electoral law.

The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007,
(“the Conduct Order”) sets out the detailed rules for the conduct of elections to
Senedd Cymru. It sets out the way in which the election and the election
campaign are conducted, including provisions for legal challenge to the election.

The Conduct Order has been reviewed and amended before each Senedd
election. It was originally made and subsequently amended by the Secretary of
State, before the function of making the Order was transferred to the Welsh
Ministers by the Wales Act 2017.

As the original Order was made in 2007, this represents a valuable opportunity
for us to consolidate and re-state the law as part of an accessible, bilingual
framework for the first time. In doing so, we will take account of the principles set

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 56

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


out in the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 and seek to produce an Order which
uses modern and clear language which is accessible to the reader.

We will look to consult on and remake a bi-lingual consolidated Conduct Order
ahead of the 2026 Senedd Elections. In remaking the Order, we will reflect any
changes needed as a consequence of taking forward policy proposals outlined
in this consultation paper.

We will also ensure the Order implements any legislative changes required as
the Welsh Government takes forward the proposals agreed by the Senedd for
reforming itself in its 8 June 2022 debate.

Enfranchising some prisoners from Wales

The 2017 White Paper asked for views on whether some prisoners from Wales
should be able to vote in local government elections, with 50% of respondents in
favour of such a change and 48% opposed. The Welsh Government is
committed to enfranchising some prisoners from Wales, as participation in
democracy would support their rehabilitation. This was also supported by the 5th
Senedd’s Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee.

The Welsh Government intended to introduce an amendment to the Local
Government and Elections (Wales) Bill during its passage through the Senedd in
2020 which would have enfranchised some prisoners from Wales for local
elections. However, following the suspension of Stage 2 scrutiny of the Bill in
light of the Coronavirus emergency, the then Minister for Housing and Local
Government confirmed to the Senedd this amendment would not be laid, given
the complexity of issues in implementing such a change at such a challenging
time.

This remains a priority but implementation requires a more collaborative and
constructive relationship with the reserved justice system than currently exists.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 57

https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/12875#A72634
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


The UK Government is opposed in principle to prisoner voting which makes
further progress challenging so we have decided not to include this in our
immediate reform programme but will continue to consider it as a longer term
priority.

Electronic remote voting/online absent voting

The simplest expression of our Equity and Accessibility principles is that
everyone who is eligible and wishes to vote should be able to. No one should
miss their opportunity to vote due to the practical inconvenience of doing so.

For many voters, a modern, secure, and accessible system for voting remotely
online using a computer or smartphone would be considered the gold standard
of convenience. The Electoral Commission’s October 2021 report ‘The Future
of Voting’ highlighted this as the most popular option for modernising elections
and an expectation of the option among younger voters.

The report also noted the concerns around security and anonymity. While the
current level of technology and the existing electoral systems do not necessarily
provide the required security and assurance needed to deliver elections at a
national level, innovations and technological advances continue to close the
gap.

We therefore do not plan to legislate for electronic remote voting in the
immediate term. That said, we recognise the potential benefits that online voting
could bring and we will continue to consider the potential for such a system as a
long-term goal.

In the meantime, we will consider establishing a set of practical criteria that a
system would need to meet to be considered for implementation. These would
be based around our reform principles with specific consideration around equity,
integrity and participation with transparency also being a key consideration in

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 58

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/Electoral%20Commission%20Report%20-%20Future%20of%20voting%20%28FINAL%29.pdf
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/Electoral%20Commission%20Report%20-%20Future%20of%20voting%20%28FINAL%29.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


any such system.

Promoting diversity in democracy

Following endorsement by the Senedd, work is underway to consider the
recommendation of the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform (SPC)
that the Senedd should be elected with integrated gender quotas, with
mandatory zipping. The SPC also made several other recommendations to
support an increase the diversity of Senedd members such as data on the
diversity of candidates being made public and that political parties should be
encouraged to publish diversity and inclusion strategies.

Promoting and supporting diversity amongst local elected members also
remains a Welsh Government priority. Local elected members are in a privileged
position: they are presented with opportunities to consider issues, discuss them,
weigh up the evidence in favour of particular action and consider the implications
of those actions for the communities they serve.

Communities are made up of individuals, each with different needs and
aspirations, from different backgrounds and cultures, across a range of ages. It
is important that those elected to represent communities reflect this diversity so
that communities are confident all perspectives and points of view are being
considered when decisions are made that impact on their lives.

The Welsh Government is therefore committed to promoting and supporting
diversity in local democracy and has run 2 phases of the Diversity in Democracy
Programme. This resulted in legislative changes such as the extension of family
absence provisions for councillors, job sharing of offices for executive members,
the creation of the role of assistant to the executive and making provision for
multi-location meetings permanent. There has also been non-legislative action
such as mentoring schemes and communications campaigns.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 59

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Prior to this, the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 created the local
government candidates’ survey, requires councils to survey their councillors
about the timings of meetings, created the role of head of democratic services
and the Democratic Services Committee to ensure councillors have access to
support to undertake their roles. We have recently strengthened the statutory
guidance relating to these issues.

The Welsh Government will continue to support and work actively with partners
to increase diversity in local democracy.

All-Wales database

An all-Wales database offers potential benefits in terms of data accuracy,
identifying duplicate entries across multiple registers, single unique identifier
codes and Wales wide look-up functions. These benefits are particularly useful
in terms of potential future electoral reform such as vote anywhere schemes and
advance voting.

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill included provisions giving
Welsh Ministers powers to establish an all-Wales database of electoral
registration data. This was removed as part of the reassessment of legislative
priorities in response to the Coronavirus emergency.

While the provision for such an all-Wales database was broadly welcomed by
stakeholders and the Senedd’s Equality, Local Government and Communities
Committee, issues were raised relating to privacy, loss of local expertise in
engaging under-represented groups, and the cost of such a database.

An all-Wales database would likely be helpful in modernising electoral
registration systems although it could represent a significant financial cost and
disruption to registration services. The implementation method and the potential
additional benefits which could be provided by such a system will need to be

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 60

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


considered.

We will continue to consider the desirability of an all-Wales database and the
need to legislate for such a provision. Views from the electoral community on the
desirability of such a database and the potential benefits or costs would be
welcome.

Monitoring impact of existing legislation

There are areas where we would like to understand views on the implications
and effectiveness of recent legislation that affect how elections in Wales are run.
The following are of particular interest.

Coincidence or combinations of elections: dissolution and Calling of
Parliament Act 2022

Elections to the Senedd and local government have always operated differently
to elections of Members of Parliament, but the differences have become more
pronounced over time. With the Fixed-term Parliaments Act 2011, Westminster
elections were ostensibly on more predictable timescales, and the Senedd and
local elections moved to similar cycles to avoid elections to the Westminster
parliament, which would be confusing to voters and complicated for
administrators if they coincided or were combined.

We strongly asserted to the Westminster Government that the repeal of the
Fixed-term Parliaments Act, by the Dissolution and Calling of Parliament Act
2022, should not lead to Westminster elections being held on the same day as
devolved elections. During the second reading debate in the House of Lords, the
UK Minister gave a commitment that the Prime Minister would consider the
dates of scheduled elections to devolved legislatures. We will continue to press
for the avoidance of combined or coinciding reserved and devolved elections.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 61

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Digital imprints: Elections Act 2022

UK Government provisions introduced in the Elections Act 2022 can be broadly
summarised as introducing a new digital imprints regime which requires political
campaigners to explicitly show who they are and on behalf of whom they are
promoting digital campaigning material. Once in force, all paid for digital political
material will require an imprint, regardless of who it is promoted by. Certain
campaigners, such as elected representatives and political parties will also
require a digital imprint on their organic material if it constitutes digital election
material, referendum material or recall petition material.

In March 2022, the Senedd granted its consent for the digital imprints provisions
to apply to devolved elections. This means that there is consistency in the
requirements which apply to digital campaign material used in Senedd, local
government, Westminster and Police and Crime Commissioner elections.

The Welsh Government recommended consent for these requirements to apply
to devolved elections, so that elections would be simpler for voters and
candidates or agents. We also stated that, as responsibility for local and Senedd
elections is devolved, it is appropriate for the Senedd to scrutinise the rules of
such elections.

If the UK-wide regime is implemented as expected through secondary
legislation, we do not expect we would need to produce different requirements
for digital campaign material for devolved elections.

While we set a high bar for considering divergent rules in this area, given the
likelihood of confusion and significant complications for enforcement where it
may be unclear if digital campaign material relates to devolved or reserved
elections, we may need to return to it if the UK-wide regime does not progress
as expected.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 62

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Online nominations: Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act
2021/2021 Rules

For the local elections in May 2021, nominations of candidacy could be filed
online. This innovation has been discussed extensively with electoral
administrators, in particular the balance between convenience and speed
against accuracy and the challenges presented by late filing of electronic
nominations.

In some areas, an online portal was used for nominations. This appeared to help
reduce errors and improve the process for both electoral administrators and
candidates or agents. The Wales Electoral Coordination Board has undertaken a
review to identify possible options in this space, and we may need to update
legislation to support innovation in this area.

Term lengths: Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021

Principal councils and Town and Community Councils now operate with a term
of five years between elections. This was introduced to align with the cycles of
other elections, with the intention of reducing the likelihood of elections
coinciding, this was prior to the Dissolution and Calling of Parliament Act 2022
removing the regularity of House of Commons elections.

While there was broad support for this provision during the scrutiny of the 2021
Act, there remain different views on whether a 4 or 5 year term is preferable for
local government members. This includes the balance of voters being
empowered to keep their elected representatives in check, and councils’ longer
term planning capability to make significant changes locally. A shorter period
between elections would also limit the potential for electoral reviews (discussed
below), and the time for principal councils to opt for the Single Transferable
Vote, the decision in respect of which must be taken by 15 November in the year

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 63

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


3 years before the next ordinary election (roughly 18 months after an election in
the current 5 year cycle).

Chapter 3: simplifying electoral registration in
Wales

Restating the franchise

In order to be eligible to vote in a Senedd or local election in Wales a person
must be:

• eligible to be registered to vote in the constituency
• be of voting age, 16 years old on polling day
• not subject to any legal incapacity to vote
• meet one of the following criteria on nationality:

◦ be either a British, qualifying Commonwealth citizen or a citizen of the
Republic of Ireland

◦ a legally resident foreign citizen (with leave to enter or remain in the UK
or not require such leave)

◦ a citizen of an EU country

The current franchise for devolved elections, as set out above, reflects
amendment through the Senedd and Elections (Wales) Act 2020 and the
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 since responsibility for
elections was devolved. Both these Acts amended the Representation of the
People Act 1983, with a link to the Government of Wales Act 2006.

The current provisions setting out the franchise for devolved elections in Wales
are untidy, which creates complexity for those responsible for interpreting the
legislation and those who are responsible for administering elections.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 64

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents/enacted
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


In addition, as the UK is no longer a member of the European Union (EU), the
legal basis for an automatic grant of voting and candidacy rights to all EU
citizens no longer exists. Therefore, we are considering the changes we need to
make to the franchise to reflect the fact that EU citizens no longer have an
automatic right to vote in the UK. One option is to treat EU citizens in the same
way as we treat foreign nationals from other countries, whilst another option may
be to align voting rights with immigration status. We may also need to consider
the effect of the reciprocal voting and candidacy rights agreements.

We are considering restating the franchise for Welsh elections in one bilingual
Act and updating the franchise and candidacy rights for EU citizens now that the
UK has left the EU.

Automatic registration

To be on the electoral register, voters in the UK must currently take part in the
Individual Electoral Registration process on an annual basis. This system
requires the local authority to contact each household to either verify existing
electoral data or identify new voters, who are then invited to apply to be on the
register.

In 2017 the Welsh Government consulted on expanding the methods available
to Electoral Registration Officers (EROs) to register voters for local government
elections. The Electoral Reform in Local Government in Wales consultation
asked, “Should Electoral Registration Officers have a greater range of sources
available to them to assist citizens in being added to the register?”. This
question included automatic registration as an option. 77% of respondents
agreed that EROs should have a great range of sources at their disposal,
including automatic registration.

These proposals were taken forward in the Local Government and Elections
(Wales) Act 2021, which made provision for an Electoral Registration Officer at a

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 65

https://gov.wales/electoral-reform-local-government-wales
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


local authority to register a voter without application using local data to identify
the person. These provisions were not mandatory and have not yet been
commenced. At the moment this option is not available.

The provisions were not commenced because of the major changes taking place
to the annual canvass process, and we supported efforts being focussed on
administering the extension of the franchise for devolved elections. We were
also keen to make sure that the most vulnerable voters were safeguarded by
any system of automatic registration and the processes around registering to
vote were as straight forward as possible.

Following this further reflection, we now propose some changes to the current
provisions and making automatic registration of voters mandatory for all
Electoral Registration Officers in Wales. This would allow EROs to add anyone
to the local government electoral register (which is also used for Senedd
elections) using data held by the local authority. We believe this would be of
particular benefit to those newly enfranchised 16 and 17 year olds and qualifying
foreign citizens in Wales, that will be supported through this process in realising
their right to vote in devolved elections. We also believe making registration a
more straight forward process for these groups will help them in developing their
relationship with democracy in Wales and could increase participation in Senedd
and local government elections.

Having looked closely at the use of electoral registers, we are proposing to
remove the open register for devolved elections in Wales. This would mean that
the data of voters on the local government register in Wales could not be sold to
some third parties. However, the data would still be available to those
organisations and agencies the law currently provides for (such as for electoral
purposes, credit checks and law enforcement purposes).

We are seeking views on the best way to make the process of automatic
registration as easy as possible for the voter while safeguarding those who
would want to register anonymously. We would also ask for views on how best

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 66

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


to collect and use locally held data to make sure that the local government
electoral register remains as accurate as possible and uses the best quality
data.

We propose to work with local authorities to run a series of pilots in a future year
on automatically registering electors. These pilots will focus on how best to
collect data, how to use existing data most effectively to identify electors and
verify their identity and how best to communicate with electors. We are
particularly keen to hear from local authorities that would be willing to participate
in these pilots so they can work with us to develop the programme over the
coming months.

Improving student and young people’s registration rates

University students in Wales have proportionately lower rates of registration and
participation in elections. Several barriers may hinder students from having their
voices heard on issues that are important to them, for example more regularly
moving addresses means traditional registration efforts, like Household
Notification Letters, are less effective.

We propose allowing students to register to vote during their enrolment week
through a data sharing agreement between their university and the student’s
relevant local authority. This could happen immediately by including an invitation
to register to vote form within the information pack received by students during
enrolment. Universities could receive and check this form before sending on to
the relevant Local Authority’s Electoral Services Team who could add the
student to the register. Evidence suggests this process is highly effective in
engaging students, helping them to become aware of their rights within the area
they are educated in and assisting them to register to vote. Cardiff Council
reported that for the 2021 to 2022 academic year, their data sharing agreement
with Cardiff University led to 8,340 students being registered.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 67

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


We wish to work with local authorities and institutions in the higher education
sector in Wales to establish a model in which data sharing agreements, for the
register to vote process only, are in place across Wales. Greater data sharing
could also support the approach to automatic registration set out above.

University student voter registration is a subject of concern which the Welsh
Government has been made aware of and is seeking to address through this
approach. This work will sit alongside the proposed automatic registration pilots
until a time in which that work goes beyond the pilot phase. Should this be the
case, University student registration work will become part of automatic
registration.

Chapter 4: strengthening electoral administration

Electoral Management Board

There is currently no statutory body responsible for coordinating elections for
Wales. The Wales Electoral Coordination Board (WECB) was set up in 2017
with a remit of co-ordinating electoral events and activity, modernisation and
reform. It also promotes and supports greater collaboration between Returning
Officers, Electoral Registration Officers and other key partners. Normally, it
comprises of the 5 Regional Returning Officers, who currently have a formal role
in relation to the Senedd’s 5 electoral regions.

The WECB is a non-statutory, voluntary body facilitated by the Electoral
Commission, it does not receive Welsh Government funding and Returning
Officers are not mandated to participate or take account of the WECB’s
discussions or recommendations. In Scotland, the body that plays a similar but
more official role is the Electoral Management Board for Scotland, which was
established by the Local Electoral Administration (Scotland) Act 2011. This
Board has the general functions of co-ordinating the administration of Scottish

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 68

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


parliamentary elections, and local government elections in Scotland.

We propose to legislate for the establishment of an Electoral Management
Board in Wales (“the Board”) which would perform functions independently of
government that are currently undertaken by the WECB. The functions carried
out by the Board could develop over time in line with future electoral reform.

In our proposal, the Board would bring together representatives from the
professional electoral community and be accountable to the Senedd. Its role
would be distinct from, but complementary to, the work of Electoral Commission
and the Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA).

In facilitating co-operation and mutual support between electoral registration
officers and returning officers, the Board would be well placed to advise Welsh
Ministers on the capacity of local election teams. By placing the Board on a
statutory footing, we also propose that the chair of the Board could, after
consultation with other members, be able to make directions and give advice in
areas where a consistent, all-Wales position would be beneficial. This is the
case with the Convener of the Electoral Management Board for Scotland. An
example of where a power of direction could be helpful would be in interpreting
and applying guidance such as was seen in response to the coronavirus
emergency.

Given it would operate independently of government, there is potential for the
Board to provide a neutral platform for both hosting information and signposting
to other trusted sources of electoral information. This could include information
for voters on how to register or cast their vote, or on candidates standing in
elections. This would support our ambition to improve accessibility by providing
easily available information to anyone needing. If we were to progress with this
proposal, we would want to protect the Board from responsibility for policing the
content of material it hosts, for example on behalf of candidates.

A further role the Board could play would be to commission and publish data and

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 69

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


research. This would enable the Board to advise both Welsh Ministers and the
Senedd on issues related to the democratic health of the nation, for example,
turnout at elections, and in particular participation of under-represented groups.

The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for
Wales

The recent completion of the ten-year programme of principal council electoral
reviews resulted in better electoral arrangements for voters and councils across
Wales. Following its completion, discussions with local government, the WLGA
and the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales (the
Commission) identified potential improvements to the review process that could
better support the aim of effective and convenient local government.

Part of the reforms the Senedd has agreed for itself affect the Commission. The
Special Purpose Committee recommended Senedd Reform legislation should
reconstitute and rename the Commission to reflect a new function of undertaking
boundary reviews of Senedd constituencies. These matters are not considered
in this consultation paper. However, we propose amending the name of the
Commission’s current Audit Committee to the Governance and Audit Committee,
and to amend its functions in any legislation arising from this White Paper. This
would ensure scrutiny within the Commission is based on current best practice.

Principal Council Electoral Reviews

Period for making Electoral Review Orders

Section 29(8) of the Local Government (Democracy) Wales Act 2013 (the
2013 Act) prohibits the Commission from publishing any electoral reviews of
principal councils during the period of nine months or less before the day of an

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/4/contents
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


ordinary council election. The purpose of this provision was to ensure the
electoral arrangements for a principal council area were certain, so that principal
councils, election teams, political parties and others have sufficient time to
prepare for the elections in reliance on that certainty.

However, there is no similar provision to prevent Welsh Ministers from making
electoral review orders during this period. Though Welsh Ministers can choose
not to implement reviews under section 37(1)(b) of the 2013 Act and the Gould
convention suggests electoral legislation should not be made 6 months or less in
advance of an election, the existing legislation does not prevent Welsh Ministers
from making an electoral review order during this period. We do not believe
existing legislation and the convention give sufficient assurance to voters,
candidates, political parties, and other stakeholders that orders will not be made
in the run up to ordinary council elections. We therefore propose confirming in
legislation Welsh Ministers may not make electoral review orders in any period
of 6 months preceding the day of an ordinary council election thereby removing
the possibility of uncertainty.

As a consequence of this, we intend to amend the timescale specified in section
29(8) of the 2013 Act so that the Commission could not publish final reports or
recommendations relating to the electoral arrangements for principal councils
within a specified period (of either twelve or fifteen months) in advance of an
ordinary council election. We need to ensure any provision provides Welsh
Ministers with sufficient time to consider the Commission’s final reports,
including if the Commission were asked to revisit a part of a review (see sections
4.33 to 4.34). The provision currently preventing Welsh Ministers from making
decisions and orders during the period of 6 weeks from the date of the receipt of
a final report (Section 37(3) of the 2013 Act) would be retained (the purpose of
this period is to provide an opportunity for voters and others to make
representations to the Welsh Ministers about the Commission’s final report). We
also propose to clarify this purpose in law (see section 4.32)).

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 71

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Maximum Periods for the Conduct of a Review and the Making of
Decisions

The 2013 Act currently includes no maximum period for the conduct of a review
or a maximum period from the receipt of a final report during which the Welsh
Ministers must decide whether they will implement the report’s
recommendations, with or without modification, or decide to take no action.

Although in practice new electoral arrangements following the conclusion of an
electoral review come into force for the next ordinary council election, extended
review periods and the absence of decisions can create electoral uncertainty.
We therefore propose the maximum period for the conduct of an electoral review
by the Commission should be 15 months and decisions should be made by
Welsh Ministers to either implement the Commission’s recommendations with or
without modification, or decisions to make no order should be made within three
months of their receiving the final report from the Commission. This would
support focussed, meaningful engagement from stakeholders during the review
period and ensure electoral arrangements are as up-to-date and relevant as
possible.

Pausing reviews

Section 14 of the 2013 Act provides the Welsh Ministers with a general power of
direction in relation to the Commission, and section 48 of that Act sets out the
specific powers of the Welsh Ministers to issue directions in relation to the
conduct of all the classes of review set out in Part 3 of that Act. These powers
include a power to direct the Commission to undertake electoral reviews of
principal councils in an order other than that which appears in their published
ten-year programme and to direct that a review under Part 3 of the 2013 Act is
stopped. However, these powers do not explicitly provide for the Welsh Ministers
to pause an electoral review.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 72

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Recent public health emergencies suggest it could be of benefit for Welsh
Ministers to hold more explicit powers in this regard. We propose the effect of a
pause would be to ‘stop the clock’ on the review for a period, and then when it is
restarted, the review would need to be completed in the remaining period of the
maximum review period rather than extending the maximum period in which a
review might be completed.

The 10 year programme of electoral reviews

Section 29(1) and (2) of the 2013 Act require the Commission to undertake an
electoral review of each principal area’s electoral arrangements at least once
every 10 years and to prepare and publish a programme for the conduct of all
those reviews.

We intend to amend these provisions to clarify there is a requirement for the
Commission to consult with the following in the preparation of the programme for
the conduct of electoral arrangement reviews:

• County and County Borough councils
• Town and Community councils
• National Park authorities
• Fire and Rescue authorities
• Port Health authorities
• Welsh Language Commissioner
• Trade Unions
• other bodies to be specified in regulations by the Welsh Ministers

We will amend the Act to provide for a common list of mandatory consultees for
the 10 year programme, the pre-review process and consultation on the draft
proposals for electoral arrangements. We will maintain the provision for the
Commission to consult any other persons or organisations it feels would have an
interest in the review.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 73

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Also, we intend to require that the Commission must ensure as far as is
reasonably practical that it schedules electoral reviews no later than two years
after the conclusion of a community review (see below). This will ensure the
currency of the electoral arrangements for the next scheduled ordinary council
elections.

Voter engagement

The Welsh Government believes it is essential eligible voters (we mean
everyone who is entitled to vote in principal council elections whether they are
registered to vote or not) have as much opportunity as possible to engage with
and shape the arrangements that will ultimately determine how they will be
represented on their county or county borough councils. We therefore intend to
strengthen the requirement for the Commission to demonstrate that it has
arrangements in place to ensure the opportunities for voter engagement are
maximised. We will therefore:

• add local government voters to the list of mandatory consultees (this will not
extend to providing them with copies of reports)

• require the procedure and methodology for reviews (section 34(2) of the
2013 Act) to include arrangements for maximising opportunities for directly
seeking the views of local government voters

• provide in statutory guidance made under section 44 of the Local
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 that principal councils set out in
their participation strategies how they will seek and enable the views of
voters to be captured and considered as part of the review process

Ward names

It was clear in the response from the public to consultation on the draft and final
electoral review reports in the recently completed ten-year cycle, there is a deep

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 74

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


interest and passion in the naming of electoral wards in both Welsh and English.
The Welsh Government feels this should, therefore, be given a more central
place in the review process and the methodology and approach to determining
ward names should be set out clearly and consulted upon in the Commission’s
procedure and methodology for conducting reviews. We therefore propose to
introduce legislation to make this a requirement.

Section 29(9)(d) of the 2013 Act includes the name of any electoral ward in the
definition of electoral arrangements. We intend to require consideration of the
name of an electoral ward includes ensuring the Commission demonstrates in its
reports that it has considered both the Welsh and English name of every ward in
the local government area under review. As part of this we will require the
Commission to publish ward names in Welsh and English in both the Welsh and
English language versions of their reports and documentation. This will enable
electors and other stakeholders to more easily and readily consider the
approach taken in identifying the recommended ward names.

Considerations for the review of Principal Area Electoral
Arrangements

Section 30 of the 2013 Act sets out considerations the Commission must take
into account when making recommendations in relation to the electoral
arrangements for a principal council.

These considerations are expressed in 2 parts. Firstly, section 30(1) provides
that the Commission must:

1. seek to ensure that the ratio of local government electors to the number of
members of the council to be elected is, as nearly as may be, the same in
every electoral ward of the principal area

2. have regard to:
◦ the desirability of fixing boundaries for electoral wards which are and will

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 75

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


remain easily identifiable
◦ the desirability of not breaking local ties when fixing boundaries for

electoral wards

Further to this section 30(2) states “For the purposes of subsection (1)(a),
account is to be taken of:

1. any discrepancy between the number of local government electors and the
number of persons that are eligible to be local government electors (as
indicated by relevant official statistics)

2. any change to the number or distribution of local government electors in the
principal area which is likely to take place in the period of 5 years
immediately following the making of any recommendation

This creates an impression the current number of registered local government
electors is the most important factor to be taken into consideration and any
differences between registered electors and population or future changes are
second order issues and can be given less weight. This is not the intention of the
legislation, as each electoral review must be robust enough to provide for
effective and convenient local government for at least the next 10 years. For
clarity, we intend to express these criteria in such a way as to ensure there is no
doubt all these factors must be considered and given even weight during
consultation and deliberation on the electoral arrangements for a principal area.

As part of discussions with stakeholders further important considerations were
identified which can impact on the number of councillors and the size of an
electoral ward these include:

• whether there is a student population
• whether there are significant numbers of visitors
• whether there is a concentration of businesses
• whether the ward is urban or rural
• the levels of deprivation in the proposed ward

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 76

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


We therefore also intend to legislate to extend the range of considerations the
Commission must take into account when formulating its recommendations for
electoral arrangements. We will require the Commission to set out and consult
upon how it will balance these considerations when setting out its draft and final
recommendations, and in its procedure and methodology for electoral reviews.

Requirement for the Commission to set out the data sets used to
underpin their review

In its conduct of electoral reviews, the Commission draws on many data sets
and is likely to be required to draw on even more sets to fulfil the requirements
set out in these proposals. Everyone impacted by the review should be able to
understand which data sets are being drawn on, we will therefore require the
Commission to set out this information in its procedure and methodology and its
draft and final proposals reports.

Further consultation on recommendations in the final report

It was clear from representations made to the Welsh Ministers on several final
reports in the recently completed ten-year electoral review process, and from
engagement with stakeholders more widely, where final recommendations
introduce proposals for new electoral arrangements which were not an option in
the draft proposals report, there should be further specific consultation with the
voters and councillors in the wards affected by those changed proposals. We
therefore intend to require in those circumstances, the Commission undertakes
a further targeted consultation with these voters and councillors before being
able to prepare the final report and submitting it to the Welsh Ministers. The
Commission will also be required to enable all mandatory consultees and others
they deem to be interested in the review to submit further responses on this
aspect of the review only.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 77

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Submission of final reports to the Welsh ministers

Section 37(3) of the 2013 Act requires the Welsh Ministers to wait for a period of
six weeks before taking action to implement any review recommendations which
fall to them to implement or to decide to take no action. This applies to
implementation of the recommendations either with or without modification. This
period is often referred to as ‘the representation period’ where voters and other
stakeholders can submit their views on the final recommendations in a review
report to the Welsh Ministers. We intend to legislate to clarify the purpose of the
6 week period is for this process and the Welsh Ministers will not consider or
take any action on review recommendations until this period has elapsed. We
will also clarify until this period is completed, the Welsh Ministers cannot make
an Order, decide to take no action or remit the report to the Commission for
further consideration. Further when this period is completed, Welsh Ministers will
be required to take into consideration any representations they have received
about the final recommendations report, before deciding whether to make an
order, to take no action or to remit the report to the Commission for further
consideration.

Implementation following an electoral review

Section 37 of the 2013 Act sets out the Welsh Ministers’ powers in relation to the
implementation of the recommendations contained in the Commission’s final
reports. The powers include accepting all the recommendations, rejecting the
recommendations, or modifying them. Modification is only possible if the Welsh
Ministers consider it would improve the arrangements for effective and
convenient local government having considered the criteria under which the
Commission must undertake electoral reviews as set out in section 30 of the
2013 Act (discussed above).

There is currently no power for the Welsh Ministers, having considered these

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 78

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


criteria, to direct the Commission to reconsider and consult again on a part of an
electoral review. We propose such a power is introduced but that it is confined to
situations where the majority of the recommendations have resulted in proposals
for more effective and convenient local government but, having considered the
criteria and representations submitted during the 6 week representation period,
the Welsh Ministers conclude that arrangements concerning a particular ward or
collection of wards could be improved. We consider this would introduce further
transparency into the process, enabling voters and communities specifically
impacted by the arrangements to be directly consulted and have focused input
into any further proposals, as well as all mandatory consultees and other
interested parties.

Publication and distribution of hard copies of reports and other
documentation

Finally, we intend to remove any requirements in current legislation on the
Commission relating to the production and distribution of hard copy reports and
other documentation. This will remove a significant burden from the Commission
and reflect current practice. We will retain a requirement for the Commission to
make hard copies, including in accessible forms, available on request.

Community reviews

Section 22 of the 2013 Act requires principal councils to monitor the
communities and their electoral arrangements in its area. In doing so councils
must have regard to the ten-year programme of electoral reviews published by
the Commission and any directions issued to it by the Welsh Ministers.

In keeping the community arrangements and related electoral arrangements
under review, the council must seek to ensure effective and convenient local
government, provide the Commission with such information as it may require

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 79

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


and once every 10 years publish a report describing how it has discharged these
duties and send a copy of the report to the Commission.

Experience from the recent programme of electoral reviews suggests that these
provisions are not robust enough to ensure effective and convenient local
government is achieved both with community arrangements and principal
council electoral arrangements in the most efficient way or in a way that enables
voters to engage with the process in a full awareness of the implications of both
processes.

We are therefore proposing to introduce legislation which will make it clear that a
principal council must undertake a full review of all its communities and their
related electoral arrangements once in every 10 year period. This 10 year period
would be linked to the 10 year period that the Commission sets out for its
electoral review programme and principal councils and the Commission will be
required to discharge their duties to ensure the principal council can then
discharge its duty in relation to completion of a community review in advance of
an electoral review being completed.

We also propose introducing legislation to require principal councils to report
annually to their full council on their communities and community electoral
arrangements, including a summary of any local orders made during the year.
As well as sending a copy of this report to the Commission, as they already do,
a copy of the report must also be sent to the Welsh Ministers. We believe an
annual report is essential to demonstrate active consideration of the duty to keep
communities and their electoral arrangements under review and to ensure voters
and communities feel their concerns are addressed in a timely manner.

We will also require principal councils to publish any local orders in a dedicated
section of their website and send electronic copies to the Commission and to the
Welsh Ministers. These orders are critical building blocks for principal council
electoral reviews and are integral to the Commission and Welsh Ministers being
able to discharge their statutory duties in this regard. We will therefore legislate

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 80

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


to ensure these local orders cannot take effect until the duty to send copies of
the local orders to the Commission and the Welsh Ministers is discharged. In
addition, to ensure there is transparency and a single database of these orders,
we propose requiring the Commission to publish the orders on its website.

In addition, where a community council requests a change of name under
section 76 of the Local Government Act 1972, we will maintain the requirement
for the principal council to provide notice of the change to the Commission and
the Welsh Ministers, but we propose that the name change cannot take effect
until the duty to provide notice to the Commission and Welsh Ministers is
discharged. This information is also essential in enabling the Commission and
the Welsh Ministers to discharge their statutory duties in relation to electoral
reviews. We will require each principal council to maintain an up-to-date list of
community areas and their names in a dedicated area on their websites. We will
also require the Commission to maintain and publish on its website an
aggregate register of community area and community council names.

Community reviews are time consuming and rightly involve lengthy periods of
consultation with local communities. However, like electoral reviews they lose
their currency and relevance if conducted over too long a period. We therefore
intend to set a maximum time period for the undertaking of a community review
of 24 months and a three-month requirement for decisions to be made on
whether the recommendations should be implemented once the final report is
published.

As noted above, when fulfilling their duty under section 22 of the 2013 Act
principal councils must seek to ensure effective and convenient local
government. Section 33 of the 2013 Act also requires principal councils to
consider whether a community should be divided into wards or whether there
should be a single election to the community as a whole. In doing this it has to
take into account the number of voters in the community and whether this is
likely to change in the next 5 years, any discrepancies between registered voters
and the population, any local ties and the desirability of fixing boundaries that

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 81

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


are easily identifiable.

However, in terms of the determination of community areas, current legislation
sets out no specific considerations to be taken into account. The Welsh
Government would like your views on whether there should be further
considerations and, if so, what these should be. Examples could be
considerations similar to those relating to electoral reviews: urban and rural
communities, students and day visitors, deprivation, the numbers of businesses
as well as the desirability of fixing community boundaries that are easily
identifiable, community ties, current and future population and the difference
between registered voters and population.

The Commission has recently revised its guidance to principal councils on
undertaking community reviews, but we intend to introduce legislation to require
the Commission to consult and set out a procedure and methodology for
community reviews to be used by itself and principal councils when undertaking
reviews along similar lines to the requirement in section 34(2) of the 2013 Act in
relation to principal council electoral reviews. We propose that the Welsh
Ministers should have the power to make regulations requiring community
reviews to be undertaken in accordance with guidance issued by themselves or
in accordance with such other guidance issued by other bodies, that the Welsh
Ministers may specify in regulations.

Like electoral reviews the current legislation does not provide for a part of a full
community review i.e., a review of all the community areas in a principal council
area, to be re-consulted upon prior to the implementation of a final
recommendations report. Neither does it expressly provide for a full community
review to be paused (there is express reference to a community review being
stopped). We intend to legislate to enable partial reviews to be undertaken at the
request of the decision-making body, the Commission, or the Welsh Ministers,
following the completion of final recommendation reports and for the pausing of
a community review.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 82

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


In relation to pausing a full community review, we propose that the Welsh
Ministers be given a clearer power to pause a community review for the same
reasons as are set out in relation to electoral reviews, such as a public health or
other emergency.

The arrangements we have suggested above for principal councils’ electoral
reviews in relation to mandatory consultees would also apply in the case of
community reviews, as would the proposals relating to changes in the final
recommendations report which were not options consulted upon in the draft
report.

Similarly, we intend to clarify the purpose of the 6 week ‘representation period’ in
section 38 of the 2013 Act in respect of the implementation of community
reviews. This would mean the Commission should treat this 6 week period as a
further consultation period where representations can be received from
interested parties which it must then take account of as part of its decision-
making process on the final report recommendations. Neither would it be able to
make any orders or decisions to undertake its own review during that 6 week
period.

We also intend to remove any requirements relating to hard copy distribution of
reports and other documentation in relation to community reviews, but will retain
a requirement for hard copies, including in accessible forms, to be made
available on request. In addition, we will also require the reports relating to
community reviews to clearly set out the data sets that underpin its
considerations.

Seaward boundaries

Sections 28 of the 2013 Act makes provision for the Commission to review the
seaward boundaries of local government areas (and preserved counties), while
section 46 sets out the extent to which parts of the seashore and projections

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 83

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


from the seashore (whether natural or artificial) already form part of the
communities to which they adjoin.

The provisions were carried forward from the Local Government Act 1972 and
were made before the advent of the possibility of developments such as tidal
lagoons. We believe it is likely that Wales could see more proposals for such
developments, and it is important the legislation relating to seaward boundaries
is considered in terms of its fitness for purpose to accommodate such
developments, which might span the seaward boundaries of multiple local
government areas or require an area’s or areas’ seaward boundary to be
extended and then contracted to provide for construction. We therefore intend to
review these provisions to ensure the legislative basis for seaward boundary
reviews is fit for purpose. In particular, we propose to enable the arrangements
for multiple local government areas and the expansion and contraction of
seaward boundaries to be made as part of a single review and for any
recommendations, if accepted, to be made or modified in a single order.

Matters relating to electoral and other reviews not requiring
legislation

Electoral reviews and other review reports are complex but need to be
accessible to a wide range of stakeholders and interested parties not all of
whom are professional or technical experts. We will therefore work with the
Commission to improve the accessibility of reports and data by using digital
opportunities such a mapping portal and best practice in accessible reporting.

Functions of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales

In October 2021, we published the 10 Year Review of the Independent
Remuneration Panel for Wales (the review). The independent report made
recommendations in relation to the operation of the Independent Remuneration

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 84

https://gov.wales/written-statement-ten-year-review-independent-remuneration-panel-wales
https://gov.wales/written-statement-ten-year-review-independent-remuneration-panel-wales
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Panel for Wales (the Panel) and the secretariat support it receives from the
Welsh Government.

We agree with the recommendation secretariat support for the Panel should be
provided by a body other than the Welsh Government, which would reinforce the
independence of the Panel’s operation and functions and avoid conflicts of
interest within the Welsh Government. We therefore propose to enable the
Commission (the current Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for
Wales) to provide secretariat support, removing the function from the Welsh
Government. The Commission is already a body corporate and can employ staff,
hold assets, is required to have an audit committee, and produce accounts. We
believe, therefore, as well as addressing the recommendation in the Review
relating to the secretariat function these arrangements will provide for greater
transparency and efficiency of the Panel’s operation.

We propose moving further than the Review’s recommendations by dissolving
the Panel and transferring its functions to the Commission. This would mean one
set of commissioners would determine the numbers of councillors across Wales,
the electoral arrangements, and the remuneration of councillors. There is
significant synergy in this work, which relies on the same data relating to the role
of councillors, the matters impacting upon that role and an understanding of the
communities councillors represent.

The functions to be transferred would include those set out in the Local
Government (Wales) Measure 2011 relating to the remuneration of elected
members of relevant authorities and functions in the Local Government and
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (sections 142 to 144) (the 2021 Act) which confer
specific functions on the Panel in the event of a voluntary merger between two
or more principal councils or other form of restructuring.

As part of the transfer, we intend to remove the function set out in section 143A
of the 2011 Measure in relation to the remuneration of principal council chief
executives. This provision was added in response to a specific set of

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 85

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


circumstances which are no longer relevant and other mechanisms, such as the
requirement to publish pay policy statements in accordance with sections 38 to
43 of the Localism Act 2011, now exist to ensure transparency in relation to the
remuneration arrangements for a principal council’s most senior employee.

We are also seeking views on whether the functions transferring should be
clarified to enable the Commission to consider ‘parachute’ payments for local
elected members as part of the councillors’ total remuneration package.
Parachute payments are available for members of the UK Parliament and the
Senedd when candidates have stood for election but have failed to be re-
elected. The payments are sometimes likened to redundancy payments for
employees and are linked to length of time served in the elected office. This
recognises these roles are full time and individuals have forgone full time
employment or career development to undertake them. There have been may
previous calls for parachute payments to be available to local elected members
on a similar basis. We are therefore interested in views as to whether this should
be enabled.

Technical, consequential, transitional and saving provision

We propose to make any necessary consequential, transitional, or saving
provision to support these proposals as required, for example, phasing the
transfer in of the current functions of the Panel, saving the effect of any of its
previous determinations, ensuring electoral and community reviews started
under previous legislation can be finished and implemented on the basis under
which they commenced. There are also a small number of technical legal
changes we intend to make to section 38 of the 2013 Act relating to the
Commission’s order making powers to ensure it can make any necessary
provision for the practical arrangements that may be needed to give effect to a
community review order, for example, the transfer of staff from one community
council to another.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 86

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Campaign finance, expenses and political party spending

The existing regulatory framework governing the spending and funding (political
finance) of candidates, political parties and third-party campaigners and other
campaigners is contained with the Representation of the People Act 1983 and
the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000 (PPERA). Part 4 of
the UK Elections Act 2022 expanded and strengthened the law about political
finance by:

• clarifying the rules on notional spending
• strengthening the rules so that third-party spending is restricted to UK based

entities and eligible overseas electors only
• increasing transparency around third-party campaigning

It also made provision for changes to the registration of political parties and
prohibits dual registration to prevent parties and campaigners from unfairly
expanding their spending limits.

Whilst the amendments in relation to the registration of political parties will apply
to Westminster elections, local elections in England and devolved elections in
Wales, the provisions relating to notional spending, and those strengthening the
rules around third-party spending apply only to Westminster elections and local
government elections in England. As a result, in future there will be a difference
in the political finance rules as they apply to reserved and devolved elections in
Wales. This has the potential to create voter confusion and administrative
complexity for the electoral community.

Whenever there is policy alignment, we want a clear and consistent regulatory
framework for both reserved and devolved elections in Wales as far as possible.
We consider that this would be beneficial for voters, candidates and
campaigners. Therefore, where appropriate, we propose to introduce equivalent
provisions in respect of devolved elections in Wales. This could entail:

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 87

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


• clarification of the law in relation to Senedd and local government elections
so candidates need only report notional expenditure (i.e. the use of property
etc. on behalf of candidates or others) that they or their election agent have
directed, authorised or encouraged someone else to use on the candidate’s
behalf. They would not be responsible for reporting benefits in kind that they
did not know about. Consideration is also being given to applying the same
principle to spending by other campaigners, including political parties, during
regulated periods in respect of standalone Senedd elections (i.e. where the
regulated period for a Senedd election does not overlap with the regulated
period for UK parliamentary elections)

• restricting third-party campaigning during a regulated period prior to
standalone Senedd elections to groups eligible to register with the Electoral
Commission only, removing the scope for spending by ineligible foreign
third-party campaigners. This could also involve the Welsh Ministers having
a power to amend the list of eligible campaigners specified in PPERA for the
regulated period of such elections

• clarification of the law in relation to the payment of expenses through
election agents to ensure that third parties are able to incur and pay for
authorised expenses, rather than those expenses having to be paid through
the agent of the candidate they are promoting

• the introduction of a lower-tier expenditure limit for the notification of
expenditure by third-party campaigners

• the Electoral Commission would also be enabled/instructed to provide
guidance in respect of any such changes

Electoral pilots

In July 2021 we invited all local authorities in Wales to submit proposals to pilot
different ways of voting, which resulted in four authorities piloting advance voting
at the local government elections in May 2022. We wanted to see if we could
make the electoral process more accessible, and voters in Blaenau Gwent,

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 88

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Bridgend, Caerphilly and Torfaen were given the opportunity of voting in
advance of polling day and also had choice over where they voted.

The pilots were delivered under Section 10 of the Representation of the People
Act 2000, which allows local authorities to vary electoral rules for local elections,
subject to Ministerial approval. This allows local authorities to trial innovative
processes in the following areas:

• when, where and how voting at the elections is to take place
• how the votes cast at the elections are to be counted and the administration

of the election after votes have been cast
• sending by candidates of election communications free of charge for postage

The independent evaluation of the pilots conducted by the Electoral Commission
was published on 2 August 2022. The experience of running the pilots and the
Electoral Commission’s evaluation of them provide useful evidence about how
electoral innovations work in practice, as well as identifying areas which would
need to be addressed before consideration could be given to any further rollout
of advance voting. In terms of potential future pilot schemes, we are likely to
want to test further innovations in electoral administration to respond to lifestyle
changes and emerging technologies and we will use the evidence provided by
the advance voting pilots and Electoral Commission’s report to consider how
best to design, develop and deliver pilots in other areas of electoral
administration. For example, we are currently considering a set of registration
pilots to establish the most effective, and accurate, way of registering voters
without application. We are interested in views about what other types of pilots
the electoral community would like to deliver and what other electoral
innovations could be piloted. We can consider whether these can be delivered
within the existing powers or whether those powers would need to be broadened
to allow for their delivery.

While Ministers must approve pilot proposals submitted by authorities, the
current power does not allow Ministers to direct authorities to undertake pilots.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 89

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


While it was a strength that the May 2022 pilots were co-designed by the
participating authorities, the electoral community and the Welsh Government,
only 4 authorities, all in South Wales, responded positively to our invitation to
deliver advance voting pilots.

For future pilots we would be interested in a more varied mix of authorities,
including in different regions or rural authorities. We consider that this could
potentially be achieved through the Welsh Ministers having a power to direct
authorities to participate in a pilot, or by earlier and varied communications and
engagement to encourage take up.

Returning Officers and requirements relating to the Welsh
language

The Welsh Government is committed to ensuring that the Welsh language is
treated no less favourably than the English language when elections are held in
Wales.

During the legislative scrutiny of the Local Government and Elections (Wales)
Act 2021, concerns were raised about the office of Returning Officers (ROs) not
being subject to any legal duties in relation to the Welsh language. Ministers
therefore committed to consider this issue in future legislation on the reform of
the electoral administration.

To date, ROs have, in practice, been complying with the spirit of the Welsh
Language Standards when providing some services. The Welsh Language
(Wales) Measure 2011 makes provision for the specification of standards of
conduct in relation to the Welsh language known as the Welsh Language
Standards.

However, this matter is quite complex because there are some interconnected
issues to be considered. Firstly, the role of ROs, being varied and depending on

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 90

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


the type of election and its legal requirements (including where there are
combined polls at devolved and reserved elections), secondly their statutory
independence as officeholder, and last their accountability for the elections
being administered.

ROs do not fall under one of the categories of bodies listed in Schedule 6 of the
Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and there is not currently any legal duty
on them to comply with the Welsh Language Standards.

However, guidance issued by the Electoral Commission sets out that:

Chapter 5: building democratic health

Section A: for voters

A wide body of research argues that the availability, quality and accessibility of
information available to voters is lacking. The Doing Democracy Better report,
based on research by the University College of London’s Constitution Unit,
states that:

A lack of knowledge and understanding is a key barrier to people taking part in
democratic life, including elections. One of the key findings from the Welsh
Government-commissioned research published in 2020 was:

“ “ROs in Wales are also required to have regard to the Welsh Language
Act 1993 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, which require
services in Wales to be delivered equally in English and in Welsh”. ”

“ “Voters are currently badly let down by the quality of campaign information
and discourse”. ”

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 91

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-01/LGW%20MAY%20RO%20Part%20A%20role%20and%20responsibilities_0.pdf
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/constitution-unit/sites/constitution-unit/files/184_-_doing_democracy_better.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-03/renewing-democratic-engagement-exploratory-research.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-03/renewing-democratic-engagement-exploratory-research.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


This lack of knowledge is not exclusive to elections but to politics more
generally. Participants in the research expressed confusion about the
differences between the levels of government and who is responsible for the
delivery of services.

Local authorities and the Electoral Commission provide information to voters
about the electoral register, ways to vote, when an election is taking place and
polling details. However, information about candidates and/or political parties to
help voters make an informed decision is sometimes unavailable or
inaccessible. Wider information about the importance of taking part in an
election is even more disparate.

Accessible voter information

Currently, a range of organisations provide information to voters. The Electoral
Commission is the independent body which oversees elections and regulates
political finance in the UK. They have a duty to promote public awareness of
electoral systems (section 13 Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act
2000). The Electoral Commission run campaigns, so people know when the
deadlines are for registering to vote, and applying for postal and proxy votes, as
well as ensuring that people have all the information they need to vote, including
how to find their polling station.

Local authorities are responsible for providing voters with ‘procedural
information’ on such matters as when an election is taking place and how and
where voters can cast their ballots. Typically, this information is provided by the
council via communications like the annual canvass, Household Notification
Letters, and poll cards.

“ “A lack of knowledge, finding politics confusing and unappealing and
general disillusionment were key engagement barriers”. ”

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 92

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Candidates standing in local government elections are now required to declare if
they have been members of a registered political party, other than that shown in
their candidacy, in the twelve months prior to the election. However, there is no
legal requirement for additional ‘factual information’ to be collected and provided
to voters about candidates and/or political parties to help voters make an
informed decision on how to cast their vote.

Our 2017 Electoral Reform in Local Government in Wales White Paper asked
about the provision of candidate statements, and whether respondents agreed
that each candidate should be required to provide a personal statement for
inclusion on a website provided by the authority to whom they are seeking
election. 84% of respondents supported this proposal, or 89% of respondents to
the youth-friendly version. A key reason cited in support was that such a move
would improve democracy and voters' understanding of what a candidate stood
for.

The Welsh Government originally made provision for the publication of
candidate statements in the draft Rules for the 2021 local elections, which were
consulted on with stakeholders. Following responses to the consultation, we
decided to remove these provisions from the final Rules given concerns
expressed about the administrative and legal burdens for Returning Officers.

Some digital solutions to this information gap have been developed by not-for-
profit organisations like the Democracy Club, who provide citizens with
information to make participation easier. However, these solutions tend to be
delivered by organisations that rely on volunteers and with unpredictable
funding.

The Welsh Government is considering how provision for candidate statements
can be taken forward, including whether centralising and simplifying the
provision of voter information should be a statutory responsibility of a body with
access to secure funding.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 93

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Improving accessibility of electoral process for underrepresented
people

Some people, particularly disabled people, can find it particularly difficult to
access the electoral process. This includes the issue of accessibility of the
information discussed above being particularly acute and some physical barriers
faced in independently casting a vote.

The Welsh Government is committed to using the Social Model of Disability in all
aspects of its work. The Social Model of Disability tells us that individuals may
have an impairment or difference, but it is society that disables them by the
obstacles we put in their way. Using the Social Model requires that barriers are
removed so that disabled people are able to participate fully.

Discussions with stakeholders have suggested support for a reliable, trusted and
easy to access source of information, which should take into account the need
for information to be provided in other formats, for example easy read. We have
been told some disabled people, particularly people with learning disabilities and
their carers, are not aware they are eligible to vote. Information may be available
but is not always easy to access.

We are continuing to work with organisations that support disabled people and
carers to encourage voters to register and signpost them to support available to
help them exercise their vote. As part of this work, we will consider information
needs in languages other than English and Welsh, and how information can be
provided in a convenient, accessible and trusted way; including for voters who
cannot or do not wish to access information digitally.

We are also keen to explore how we can encourage political parties to produce
accessible materials. We are aware of a number of organisations who can
support best practice in terms of engagement and propose working collectively
with these organisations, political parties, the Electoral Commission and others

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 94

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


to produce best practice guidelines, and to set out accessibility standards that
should be considered when designing election publicity material.

There is robust evidence (for example, the Electoral Commission’s report,
‘Elections for Everyone’ and the UK Government’s ‘Access to Elections:
Call for Evidence’) disabled people face physical barriers when trying to
exercise their right to vote. We want to ensure the physical environment in which
voting takes place is accessible for all voters, and are working with the Electoral
Commission, electoral administrators and other stakeholders to consider
whether changes can be made to guidance and training for polling station staff
to better support disabled people.

We will also consider changes to electoral legislation to ensure devolved
elections can be administered in a manner that is accessible for all, while also
safeguarding the integrity of the elections. Our ongoing conversations with
stakeholders and other governments in the UK have identified innovations which
could be used to help disabled people vote whilst also protecting their right to
cast their vote in secret. The Elections Act 2022 amended Schedule 1 of the
Representation of the People Act 1983, which previously required Returning
Officers at reserved elections to provide each polling station with a device for
voters with sight loss. The 2022 Act replaces this with a new broader
requirement to provide such equipment as is reasonable for the purposes of
enabling, or making it easier for disabled people to vote independently.

We want to consider what measures can be put in place to make it easier for
disabled people to vote independently, and how that can be achieved in a way
that is flexible and ensures the assistance provided reflects the needs of voters.
This will include further stakeholder engagement and consideration how an
amendment to legislation, similar to that in the Elections Act 2022, could best
operate.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 95

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/report-elections-everyone
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/access-to-elections-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/access-to-elections-call-for-evidence
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Education

The extension of the voter franchise to 16 and 17 year olds for Senedd and local
government elections in Wales, allows them to participate in the democratic
process when they are more likely to be in a stable environment and in
education. This would not be the case for all young people and we will continue
our efforts to ensure that all young people have the same opportunities to
participate, regardless of their circumstances.

The Curriculum for Wales, which began its roll-out in September 2022,is the
biggest reform in devolved education in Wales to date. The underpinnings of the
previous curriculum were developed over 30 years ago in a wholly different
cultural and technological context. To better reflect the world we live in and to
ensure that we equip our learners for the world ahead of rapid technological,
social and economic change, the new curriculum has been designed to better
prepare our children and young people to thrive in a future where digital skills,
adaptability and creativity, alongside knowledge, are crucial.

Our legacy to the next generation of our children and young people is that they
are able to lead fulfilling personal, civic and professional lives in our modern
democracy. That is why the 4 purposes sit at the very heart of the Curriculum
for Wales’s framework and outlines our aspirations for every learner in Wales.
Crucially, one of these is to help learners develop as ethical, informed citizens of
Wales and the world. For our learners to realise the 4 purposes, high
expectations are set for everyone, promoting individual and national well-being,
tackling ignorance and misinformation, and encouraging critical and civic
engagement.

The four purposes are supported by 27 statements of what matters, across six
Areas of Learning and Experience. Collectively these represent what we want
for all educated 16 year old learners in Wales. The statements of what matters
are mandatory under Statement of What Matters Code within every school’s

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 96

https://gov.wales/curriculum-wales-overview
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/designing-your-curriculum/developing-a-vision-for-curriculum-design/#curriculum-design-and-the-four-purposes
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-11/curriculum-for-wales-statements-of-what-matters-code.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


curriculum ensuring consistency across Wales.

The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, as well as the Health and
Well-being Area includes “what matters” statements that outline the mandatory
learning for all learners. These include learning that helps learners in
understanding and applying their democratic and their legal rights and
protections. One such example of a what matters statement is “Informed, self-
aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity,
and are able to take considered and ethical action.” This will support learners to
participate in decision-making and share opinions and evidence with decision-
makers and elected representatives in their community. Mandatory aspects of
this statement include:

• helping learners to consider the impact of their actions when exercising their
democratic rights and responsibilities

• developing learners’ understanding of their responsibilities as citizens of
Wales

• helping learners identify with and contribute to their communities
• developing learners as self-aware, informed, ethical global citizens

As the Curriculum for Wales is rolled out, the Welsh Government will work
closely with our education partners in our regions and local authorities to
develop a coherent and sustainable framework for supporting schools to ensure
learners progress in this area of learning. We want to ensure that learners have
opportunities to increase their understanding of democracy and the role they
must play as citizens in an engaging way that promotes a lifelong habit of
participation.

To deliver the new curriculum effectively and realise our shared vision, it is vital
that our schools have the support, understanding and resources. We have
developed resources to help our young people develop as ethical, informed
citizens who understand their rights and exercise their democratic
responsibilities and ensuring politically neutral materials for our teachers to

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 97

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


teach this area with confidence.

Section B: for candidates

The safety of people standing to represent their local communities as candidates
to the Senedd or local authorities has become an increasing concern over recent
years. While serious incidents thankfully remain rare, according to the Local
Government Association’s Councillors’ “Guide to Handling Harassment, Abuse
and Intimidation”, we intend to support candidate broadly in two areas: changes
we will make to the Undue Influence Offence and broader measures we intend
to take forward to monitor and tackle a growing issue.

Strengthening of the undue influence electoral offence

The Elections Act 2022 introduced for reserved elections new language to
modernise and strengthen one of the classic electoral offences, Undue
Influence. Others electoral offences are ‘bribery’ and ‘treating’. All are labelled
‘corrupt practices’ in electoral law and carry an additional electoral sanction.

This change followed a number of different reports and consultations on
electoral offences in recent years. In 2016, in its review of electoral law the
Electoral Commission recommended that the offence should be redrafted and
modernised. Sir Eric Pickles in his report Securing the Ballot also advised that
the offence should be strengthened. In 2018, the UK Government launched the
consultation ‘Protecting the Debate: Intimidation, influence and information’
asking whether the offence should be redrafted and what it should cover. The
language inserted into the Representation of the People Act 1983 by the UK
Government’s Election Act 2022 subsequently clarifies the offence in two
important ways, damage to a person’s reputation and the importance of intent.

We now also intend to update the definition of the offence in relation to devolved

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-the-ballot-review-into-electoral-fraud
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/protecting-the-debate-intimidation-influence-and-information
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


elections, replicating the revised language set out in the Elections Act 2022. This
will strengthen the definition of Undue Influence with regard to the intent to
commit an act and also with regard to damage a person’s reputation.

Other measures we propose to take on candidate safety

The Welsh Government recently commissioned the Wales Centre for Public
Policy (WCPP) to assess existing evidence around a number of key electoral
issues. This included whether electoral candidates, particularly those from
under-represented groups, are deterred from seeking election by fear of abuse,
including harassment and intimidation.

The WCPPs report Reform of Electoral Law and Practice indicated that
where evidence was available that abuse can be gendered and racialised.
Despite the lack of detailed data, there is also evidence to suggest this can be
an issue for some candidates. This is reflected in evidence collected from local
councillors, the General Election Survey 2017 and reports in social media and
press, which detail online abuse through to threats to the physical safety of the
candidate, families and property.

There are already several actions being taken by key stakeholders. For
example, the Electoral Commission, and the National Police Chiefs’ Council
issued their Joint Guidance for all Candidates on safety measures which may
be taken. The WLGA also provides supporting material that focus on early
intervention for elected members and also facilitated a Fair and Respectful
Campaign pledge prior to recent election.

However, while we are building the evidence base to allow us to take more
targeted actions to help reduce instances of abuse of electoral candidates, we
propose to focus on the following short and long-term actions:

• evidence: we would like to collect information from candidates post-election

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 99

https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/reform-of-electoral-law-and-practice/
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-03/Joint%20Guidance%20for%20Candidates%20in%20Elections%202021_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


to develop our evidence base on the type and frequency of abuse
encountered and the personal impact that may have

• communication: we are considering what communications could be helpful in
reducing abuse in campaigns, this could include in schools, or inclusion in a
national communication campaign in advance of major elections

• costs: to ensure fairness in electoral campaigns, candidates may only spend
a certain amount on their campaign, commonly referred to as election
spending limits. We could introduce legislation to exempt spending on
safety-related necessities or for protection of persons or property during
campaigns

• support and advice: some support is already available to candidates on
personal safety and online abuse. It may be helpful to better signpost this
information to candidates, possibly supplemented with training in advance of
major elections. This could be a responsibility of the Electoral Management
Board discussed above

• campaign pledge: additional consideration could be given to encouraging all
candidates to sign up to a campaign pledge, similar to WLGA’s “Fair and
Respectful campaign” pledge in advance of the 2022 local elections

• online abuse: the UK Government’s Online Safety Bill is currently being
considered in Parliament. This will place duties on certain companies to
remove illegal content and to address harmful material in line with their terms
and conditions and will place further duties on Ofcom as the regulator. We
are monitoring the implications for devolved elections as this Bill makes its
way through Parliament

• statement of persons nominated: the rules for local and Senedd elections
could be amended to require that the SOPN form includes a standard
description of the geographical qualifications for standing as a candidate to
remove local pressure on candidates to publish their home address

Access to Elected Office Fund

Another strand of our work to promote greater diversity amongst elected

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 100

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


representatives is the establishment of the ‘Access to Elected Office Fund’. The
aim of the current fund is to support disabled candidates in devolved Welsh
elections for the costs they incur when campaigning such as palantypists. Any
support received from the Fund is excluded from candidates’ spending limits.
The Fund was established on a pilot basis for the 2021 Senedd and 2022 local
government elections. We are awaiting the final evaluation report, but early
indications are the Fund was valued and well received.

In light of this, and our Programme for Government commitment to extend the
Fund to support for candidates from other underrepresented groups, we propose
to legislate to require the Welsh Ministers to maintain an ‘Access to Elected
Office Fund’ which is available for all devolved Welsh ordinary and by elections.
We propose , following consultation with stakeholders and interested parties,
the Welsh Ministers will be able to set out the scope of the scheme in
regulations within parameters linked to the purpose of the Fund set out in
primary legislation. The proposed parameters are to provide support for
candidates from underrepresented groups.

Local government candidates’ survey

Since 2011, local authorities are legally required to monitor the equality and
diversity of candidates seeking election to county and county borough councils
and community and town councils. Questions may be asked about gender,
sexual orientation, language, race, age, disability, religion or belief, health,
education or qualification, employment, and work as a councillor.

The purpose of the survey is to understand the characteristics of the candidates,
and those who are elected as councillors; and to understand how the profile of
this group changes over time. The information collected from the surveys
enables Welsh Ministers to understand the impact of polices aimed at widening
participation in local government and to support future policy development.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 101

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Surveys have been undertaken in 2012, 2017 and again for the May 2022 local
government elections. In advance of each election the survey questions have
been reviewed and changes to those questions were made in regulations. This
is because the survey once set cannot be changed without making regulations.
In addition, there is no flexibility for local authorities to include questions they
might wish to ask to inform local policies.

Removal of the requirement to set out the specific wording of the survey in
regulations (secondary legislation) will make it easier to change aspects of it as
policy develops. We believe, in future, the wording of the survey should be
reviewed by a group of key partners, including local government, representatives
of equality groups and other interested parties. Recommendations would then
be made to Welsh Ministers to change or improve the survey. We believe these
recommendations would form a core set of all Wales questions. Not defining this
core set of questions in regulations would also mean that principal councils
could add questions aimed at providing information about local initiatives. We
believe this approach provides for consistency across Wales, continuity of the
time series of the data set and also enables local flexibility to add questions.

Chapter 6: modernising Welsh elections

Advance voting

In May 2022, as part of four pilots schemes that were delivered in respect of the
local government elections, voters in Blaenau Gwent, Bridgend, Caerphilly and
Torfaen were given the opportunity to vote in advance of polling day, and had
additional flexibility over where they voted. The Electoral Commission is required
by law to evaluate any such pilot schemes, and it published its report on these
schemes on 2 August 2022.

The Electoral Commission found that the pilots were well run and that there

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 102

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


were no notable issues on either the advance voting days or polling day. Voters
were satisfied with their experience of voting early and welcomed the flexibility
and additional choice it afforded them. However, the opportunity to vote early did
not increase voter turnout in the areas trialling the pilot schemes. The Electoral
Commission concluded that this was not unexpected as people’s decision to
vote is driven by several factors. The Electoral Commission was unable to judge
from the evidence of the pilots what impact advance voting, if introduced more
widely, would have on voter turnout over time. Although the pilots were well run,
the Electoral Commission was clear that further work would be needed to
develop any future policy and supporting administrative structure before a
decision could be taken on whether advance voting should be rolled out more
widely.

We are keen to bring the ballot box closer to people’s lives and make voting as
easy as possible for voters. We need to consider the Electoral Commission’s
evaluation report carefully to consider whether enabling advance voting and
voting at alternative venues, such as colleges, schools, workplaces or places
where there are large gatherings of people, would assist in delivering this aim,
and whether this should become normal practise in devolved elections (local
government and Senedd Cymru elections) in the same way that postal voting
and proxy voting has, and we are keen to hear your views on this proposal.

Reforming postal and proxy voting

We are conscious of the divergence of reserved elections from our existing
system following Elections Act 2022, which may create confusion and
complexity for administrators and voters. This could have a knock-on effect for
people being able to vote in absentia. The impact of the UK Government’s
change to a 3 year renewal cycle for absent vote applications must be
considered against the implications of the divergence. Without a change the
current divergence in renewal times could result in different sets or personal
identifier being held for the same elector.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 103

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


The UK Elections Act 2022 contains powers to establish an Online Absent
Voting Application system for reserved elections. While the system and
approach were welcome, and a single system would have been simpler for
voters, the inclusion of enhanced ID verification within the system made this
inappropriate, amendments were laid to carve non-reserved elections out of the
provisions.

We are in the process of considering both short and long-term options for a
similar system for devolved elections. We are keen to gauge views on the range
of options from a fully online system similar to the one intended by the UK
Government to a central application portal providing voters with prefilled
applications for them to return by post.

Postal vote ballot tracking

The number of Welsh voters using postal voting has continued to increase in
recent years. At the Senedd Election in 2021, over 458,000 postal votes were
issued in Wales, this represents an increase of more than 16% since 2016.

One of the principal concerns about postal voting amongst electors is that postal
ballot packs will not be delivered in time to be counted. Despite the reliability of
the postal voting system and low rejection rate of postal votes, public confidence
in the safety of postal voting lags behind at 68% according to research
undertaken by the Electoral Commission.

In addition, there is not currently a mechanism for Electoral Administrators to
inform an elector of an error in their Postal Vote Statement or seek a correction.
Voters are usually only informed that their vote has not been counted after the
election. The most common errors relate to providing the required personal
identifiers, the voter’s signature and date of birth (or date of birth in the case of
an anonymous voter) on the Postal Vote Statement. In Wales, errors resulted in

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 104

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


3.8% of all postal ballots being rejected during the 2021 Senedd Election.

One of the key recommendations of the Wales Centre for Public Policy’s
report on Electoral Reform was to provide a process for voters to be able to
correct an error made in their Postal Vote Statement to reduce the number of
rejected ballots. Due to uneven and unpredictable volumes of postal votes that
are received in the run up to an election, Electoral Administrators have generally
considered manual solutions to be too time consuming and costly to manage
within their existing electoral teams.

Postal ballot return tracking facilities were successfully piloted by 2 local
authority areas in England during the 2006 local government elections. The
Electoral Commission concluded that these type of electronic tracking facilities
have the potential to address voter concerns about the perceived unreliability of
the postal delivery service. The tracking systems trialled during these pilots
allowed local authorities to electronically scan and cross match postal vote
statements and postal ballots to identify which ballot packs had been returned
and provided a web-based facility that enabled voters to check whether their
postal ballot packs had been received by the Returning Officer.

We are interested in exploring the introduction of a postal vote e-tracking system
that would allow for the processing of incoming Postal Vote Statements and
provides a mechanism to notify electors of errors so that corrections can be
made in time to ensure that their postal votes are counted. We believe that an
electronic system such as this would help to reduce the number of postal votes
rejected and would have a positive impact on public confidence in the postal
voting system by providing electors with live updates on the progress of their
postal ballots.

It is likely that the development and introduction of a postal vote e-tracking
system in Wales would be incremental. Initially this could involve the
establishment of a simple delivery notification and error notification system. In
the future there is potential for it to provide a broader system for engagement

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 105

https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/reform-of-electoral-law-and-practice/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/reform-of-electoral-law-and-practice/
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/electoral_commission_pdf_file/FindingsPostalVoteTracking_22988-17175__E__N__S__W__.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


with voters through the inclusion of things such as voter information, candidate
statements, elections results and post-election engagement.

Digital registers

The use of digital registers in some local authorities during the flexible voting
pilots in May 2022 demonstrated their viability as replacement for hardcopy
Registers and corresponding number lists (CNLs). Electoral Administrators who
have adopted the system have noted benefits in efficiency and staff usability.

The additional flexibility in the delivery of elections was shown within the
Electoral Commission’s evaluation of the 2022 Pilots. They allowed for quicker
turnover for producing marked registers between polling days for advance
voting. The live register functionality also allowed for electors to be eligible to
vote in multiple locations. This would be essential for any future electoral
reforms looking to allow electors to vote in any polling station within their area.

Feedback from Electoral Administrators who have employed the system has
been positive with many wishing to continue using the system. Feedback from
other Electoral Administrators has been mixed with questions around the cost
and reliability of the system.

Examination and testing of existing Digital Register systems has shown them to
have comparable levels of security to the traditional process. A review of the
rules on the conduct of local government elections will be required, especially
around the post-election storage of registers, to facilitate more convenient use of
digital registers.

There is now strong evidence of the benefits of using Digital Registers in terms
of convenience for voters, election staff and administrators. While we are not
proposing to mandate the use of Digital Registers for devolved elections in
Wales in the short-term, we will continue to facilitate and encourage their uptake.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 106

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


We would be interested to hear your thoughts on the use of Digital Registers for
non-reserved elections in Wales.

Chapter 7: improving our democracy

Training for elected members

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires county and county
borough councils to secure the provision of ‘reasonable training and
development’ for their members’. While the term ‘reasonable training and
development’ is not defined, guidance to local authorities sets out subjects that
should be included in member training programmes. These subjects include
induction, standards of conduct, equality and diversity and undertaking their role
as a local member. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021
requires town and community councils to prepare and publish training plans for
their members and guidance suggests the training should cover similar subject
areas.

At present all training and development for councillors is taken forward on a
voluntary basis, with individual councillors choosing whether to attend. While
many councillors engage with the opportunities offered to them, others take the
view that as volunteers, elected by the public, they should not be compelled to
attend training activities. While accepting individuals put themselves forward on
a voluntary basis to stand for election, once elected, councillors play a significant
role in society and have many responsibilities. For example, the case work of
councillors involves helping people, often when they are at their most vulnerable.
Councillors can also influence decisions about the everyday lives of people in
their area through various decision-making processes such as their membership
of planning and licensing committees.

Each councillor has a different set of knowledge, skills, and experiences of

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 107

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


life. However, with any role in society, especially those which exist to assist and
represent others, there is an expectation councillors have the necessary level of
knowledge and expertise to undertake activities on behalf of others. In addition,
councillors need to put themselves in a position where they are not contravening
legislation or endangering their personal safety or the safety of others. To do this
they need to have a good understanding of things such as equality and diversity
legislation, standards of conduct, working through social media and lone
working.

As part of our work to support and encourage diversity amongst elected
members, stakeholders have suggested mandating specific training for
councillors. A programme which identifies areas of awareness and training all
councillors should receive, with the training requirements building as councillors
take on additional roles, such as a member or chair of a committee.

If mandatory training were introduced, there would be two aspects to be
considered. The first would be the requirement for councils to provide the
training including consideration of what levels, type and extent of training would
be specified as mandatory. This would need to be considered to ensure
councillors across Wales had access to the same quality and extent of
mandatory training.

Secondly, we believe it would be important for candidates to understand and
agree to undertaking the training in advance of being elected. This could be
achieved through a declaration at the point of nomination that individuals
understand and are willing to undertake mandatory training and reinforced by
the oath of office if elected. The latter provides the opportunity for introducing
sanctions under the ethical code of conduct if mandatory training is not
undertaken without good reason. This would provide the candidate with a clear
message they are expected to undertake appropriate training and would avoid
individuals being elected and only then discovering they are required to
undertake specific training.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 108

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Whilst we do not intend to legislate on this issue in this Senedd term we are
interested in your views to inform future policy development.

Changes to the disqualification regime for Local
Councillors from also serving as Members of the Senedd

We are considering whether to make changes to the current disqualification
regime for election to the Senedd, in particular:

• disqualifying town and community councillors in Wales from serving as
Members of the Senedd, bringing arrangements into line with the
disqualification regime for principal council members in Wales

• removing the “grace period” for all councillors elected to the Senedd, and for
the Members of the Senedd elected as councillors. Each proposed change is
explained in turn

Disqualification of Town and Community Councillors from
serving as Members of the Senedd

In 2014, the then National Assembly for Wales’s Constitutional and Legislative
Affairs Committee called for the Welsh Government to review whether it was
appropriate for an Assembly Member (known as a Member of the Senedd (MS)
since 6 May 2020) to also serve as a county councillor. The Welsh Government
felt that dual membership of the Senedd and a principal council was undesirable,
time commitments of holding dual posts were incompatible and presented
potential conflicts of interest. For this reason, the Welsh Government brought
forward provisions as amendments to be included in the Senedd and Elections
(Wales) Act 2020 (part 4 Disqualification) so that members of principal
councils were disqualified from becoming members of the Senedd.

At that time, it was felt that the concerns and issues identified for principal

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 109

https://senedd.wales/Laid%20Documents/CR-LD9881%20-%20Constitutional%20and%20Legislative%20Affairs%20Committee%20Inquiry%20into%20the%20Disqualification%20of%20Membership%20from%20the%20Natio/CR-LD9881-e.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/part/4/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/part/4/enacted
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


councillors were less relevant to town and community councillors, whose role
and responsibilities appeared to be different than those of principal councillors.
This distinction has become less clear over time, particularly in the light of the
recent introduction of the general power of competence for eligible community
councils (see section 24 and Chapter 2 of the Local Government and
Elections (Wales) Act 2021) which gives a qualifying council the same power
to act that an individual generally has, enabling them to act in innovative ways.

Moreover, town and community councillors play a vital role in representing the
interest of their communities and influencing decision-makers (see The Good
Councillor’s Guide for Community and Town Councillors). They can have
several roles in their communities, have numerous legal powers and can make
decisions on services and assets. Therefore, it is felt the concerns and issues
identified for principal councillors also extend to town and community councillors.
A significant number of principal councillors are also town and community
councillors (“dual-hatted”), especially in large councils. This strengthens the
need to bring arrangements for town and community councillors into line with the
disqualification regime for principal council members.

We therefore propose disqualifying town and community councillors in Wales
from serving as Members of the Senedd, to bring arrangements into line with the
disqualification regime for members of principal councils.

Removal of the “grace period” for all councillors elected to the Senedd and for
the Members of the Senedd elected councillors.

Removal of grace period for councillors elected to the
Senedd

Section 17E of the Government of Wales Act 2006 provides that principal
councillors are not disqualified from becoming a Member of the Senedd where
the next ordinary council election is due to take place within 372 days (“the

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 110

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/good-councillors-guide.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-06/good-councillors-guide.pdf
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


grace period”).

The grace period was conceived to avoid a casual vacancy and therefore a
possible by-election or a vacant seat for up to 6 months at county and county
borough council level in the 12 months before an ordinary election. If this
vacancy arises outside of the grace period and the successful candidate is a
member of a principal council, then (subject to section 17D of Government of
Wales Act 2006) it will trigger a by-election in that member’s principal council.

During the grace period, principal councillors are entitled to remuneration for
both roles. This places some principal councillors in a privileged position.

Whilst town and community councillors are not remunerated in the same way,
the issues relating to conflicts of interest are still relevant and it could appear
that those Senedd members who are town or community councillors are in an
advantageous position over and above their peers for the grace period. This is
because they have more access to Welsh Ministers through proximity and
through the scrutiny process and form part of the legislation making body which
sets the legislative framework for town and community councils.

We are interested in views on whether the current grace period for principal
councillors elected as Members of the Senedd should be retained and whether
there should be a grace period for town and community councillors who are
elected as Members of the Senedd.

Removing the grace period would mean that if a member of a principal council or
town or community council is elected as a Member of the Senedd and takes up
that seat, the councillor’s seat will become vacant, and this may trigger a by-
election at the local level (the outcome will depend on whether the relevant
person is a member of a principal council or a town or community council and
also when the vacancy arises).

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 111

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Removal of grace period for Members of the Senedd
elected councillors

Section 17F of the Government of Wales Act 2006 makes corresponding
provision for Members of the Senedd who are elected as principal councillors. In
this scenario, the MS is not disqualified where the next ordinary Senedd election
is due to take place in 372 days (“the grace period”). For the same reasons as
outlined in respect of principal councillors elected as MSs, we therefore propose
removing the current grace period for Members of the Senedd who are elected
as principal councillors and not to introduce a grace period for Members of the
Senedd who are elected as town and community councillors.

Currently if a Senedd seat is vacated during a Senedd term then it will either
trigger a constituency by-election (unless the vacancy is created within the
3-month period before the next ordinary general election), or for regional seats
the next candidate on the list will usually be sworn in.

The latter will be true under the proportional list system, proposed under the
Senedd Reform Programme. When a vacant seat arises (for example, due to a
member resigning or passing away), this would usually be filled through the next
candidate on a party’s list gaining that seat. And therefore, there will not usually
be a need for a by-election to be run for the Senedd seat. The development of
policy on casual vacancies will be considered as part of the Senedd Reform
programme.

Impact assessments

We have published a draft Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) and Regulatory
Impact Assessment (RIA) alongside this White Paper, to provide best estimates
for costs, benefits and impacts of the proposals. We will gather more information
to bolster these assessments as we develop proposals following this

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 112

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


consultation. We would be grateful for your views on the assumptions and the
approach set out.

Consultation questions

We would be keen to hear your views on these proposals, in particular on:

Chapter 1

Question 1

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the 6 principles for electoral reform
of equity, accessibility, participation, improving citizen experience, simplicity,
integrity?

Chapter 2

Question 2

Should the Welsh Government commit resource to considering how electronic
remote voting could operate for devolved elections?

Question 3

What impacts, if any, do you think the proposed introduction of an all-Wales
database of electoral registration data would have on the electoral process (such

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 113

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


as registration and electoral services)?
Please consider the potentially positive and negative impacts and provide
evidence to support your response, where available. Please comment on each
characteristic individually.

Question 4

What are your views on the application of Elections Act 2022 provisions on (a)
digital imprints for digital campaign material, and (b)online nominations?

Question 5

Should principal and town and community councils revert to four year terms?

Chapter 3

Question 6

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the franchise for devolved
elections should be restated in one bi-lingual Welsh Act?

Question 7

From your perspective, should the franchise reflect the changes in the status of
EU citizens now the UK has left the EU?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 114

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 8

How can we best help people understand they have been automatically
registered and feel confident that their data is protected, especially for people
who may be vulnerable or wish to register anonymously?

Question 9

To what extent do you agree with the removal of the open register in relation to
devolved elections?

Question 10

Should the Welsh Government place a duty on local authorities to have data
sharing agreements within the authority itself, and where applicable, with other
authorities or organisations?

Question 11

Are there any specific aspects of automatic registration that should be piloted
before we move to an all Wales roll out?

Question 12

To what extent do you agree or disagree that students should have the option to
register to vote whilst enrolling at university?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 115

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 12a

Should any data that is provided be subsequently shared, via a data sharing
agreement, with the relevant Local Authority’s Electoral Services Team?

Chapter 4

Question 13

Do you agree that a statutory Electoral Management Board for Wales should be
established?

Question 14

If answered Strongly Agree or Agree to Question 13, what should its functions
be?

Question 15

Should the Electoral Management Board have powers to issue directions to
Returning Officers and Electoral Registration Officers?

Question 16

Should the Electoral Management Board have the power to issue advice to
Returning Officers and Electoral Registration Officers on the carrying out of their
functions?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 116

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 17

What are your views on who should be members of the Electoral Management
Board and how they should be appointed?

Question 18

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our proposals to provide for
greater electoral certainty by extending the statutory time during which no final
electoral review reports can be published and no electoral review orders may be
made?

Question 19a

At which point in the electoral cycle should the Commission be prevented from
publishing electoral review reports:

Question 19b

Do you agree the Commission should, as far as possible, be required to
schedule electoral reviews within two years of a community review being
completed?

Question 20

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the suggested proposals for
setting maximum review and decision making periods?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 117

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 21

What are your views on whether a power to pause the conduct of electoral
reviews should be included in legislation?

Question 22

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the principle of a common,
extended list of mandatory consultees for all parts of the electoral review
process?

Question 23

To what extent do you agree or disagree that requirements to engage with
eligible voters as part of the electoral review process should be strengthened,
including in respect of ward names?

Question 24

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals to amend and
extend the considerations the Commission must take into account when
determining electoral arrangements which maximise effective and convenient
local government?

Question 25

Do you agree with our proposals requiring the Commission to undertake a
further consultation where a recommendation in its proposed final review report
is not one of the options it consulted upon in its draft report?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 118

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 26

Do you agree with our proposals to enable Welsh Ministers to require the
Commission to revisit a part of an electoral review before they make an electoral
review order?

Question 27

Are there are any further changes to the electoral review process that should be
considered?

Question 28

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the purpose of the six-week
representation period should be clarified in the legislation?

Question 29

Do you agree that Welsh Ministers should be required to consider any
representations received during this period before taking any action to direct the
Commission to undertake further work or implement, modify or not implement
the recommendations set out in the final recommendations report?

Question 30

To what extent do you agree or disagree that legal requirements on the
Commission to provide hard copies of documentation should be removed,
except for when they are requested?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 119

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 31

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposals for legislative
change in relation to community reviews?

Question 32

Please provide any further comments on how you think the process of
conducting community reviews could be improved.

Question 33

To what extent do you agree or disagree that seaward boundary review
arrangements should be revised to include the ability for the Commission to
undertake reviews relating to multiple local government areas and the expansion
and contraction of seaward boundaries in a single review process? Should those
arrangements to be included in the same review order?

Question 34

Do you agree with our proposals to transfer the functions of the Independent
Remuneration Panel for Wales to the Commission?

Question 35

Do you agree that functions relating to the determination of the salaries of chief
executives should be abolished and not transferred?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 120

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 36

What do you think about the idea that new powers should be created to enable
determinations to be made about parachute payments for councillors?

Question 37

Do you agree with our proposal for Wales to maintain a single regulatory
framework on political finance for reserved and devolved elections in Wales,
where appropriate?

Question 38

Please provide any further comments on the specific measures under
consideration regarding political finance.

Question 39

What types of innovation in electoral administration would you like to see piloted
in the future?

Question 40

How could we facilitate a more varied mix of local authorities participating in
future pilots?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 121

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 41

What are your views on a power of direction for Welsh Ministers which would
enable them to compel a local authority to pilot electoral innovations?

Question 42

Should Returning Officers be subject to specific Welsh language requirements
when elections take place?

Question 43

Are there any types of services you would like to see Returning Officers
providing in Welsh?

Question 44

Have you ever experienced any issue related to the Welsh language during
elections?

Chapter 5

Question 45

Should the Welsh Government consider making provision for an online voter
information platform? What information should be provided on the platform and
who should host it?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 122

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 46

Who would need to provide information to an online voter information platform
and how could they be supported to do so?

Question 47

What should be done to encourage political parties to produce accessible
materials?

Question 48

To what extent do you agree or disagree that that the returning officer at
devolved elections should be under a duty to provide such equipment as it is
reasonable to provide for the purposes of making it easier for disabled people to
vote?

Question 49

What support should be put in place to ensure the returning officer is able to
effectively discharge that role?

Question 50

Do you think the Welsh Government should specify in regulations the type of
assistance which must be offered to disabled voters in polling stations?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 123

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 51

What sort of assistance do you think should be offered to disabled voters in
polling stations?

Question 52

In addition to provisions in the Curriculum for Wales, are there any other
measures that the Welsh Government should put in place through the education
system to ensure that learners in Wales can confidently take part in Welsh
elections?

Question 53

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the definition of the electoral
offence of Undue Influence provided by section 114A of the Representation of
the People Act 1983 be used for devolved elections?

Question 54

Do you think some or all of these proposed actions described in the White Paper
will help to contribute to reducing instances of abuse of candidates?

Question 55

If an exemption from candidates spending limits for security related spending is
sought, what activities should be included in that exemption?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 124

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 56

Will the proposed addition to the standard wording included in the Statement of
Persons Nominated form have the desired effect of reducing occurrences of
abuse or would different measures would be more effective?

Question 57

What other actions would contribute to reducing instances of abuse of
candidates?

Question 58

Should Welsh Ministers legislate to require the establishment and maintenance
of an ‘Access to Elected Office Fund’?

Question 59

Should this Fund be available to support candidates from under-represented
groups for all devolved Welsh ordinary and by-elections?

Question 60

If you agree the Fund should be a requirement set out in primary legislation,
what should be the parameters within which the Fund should operate?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 125

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 61

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the requirement to set out the
Local Government Candidates’ Survey questions in regulations should be
removed?

Question 61a

If Strongly Agree or Agree, should the survey be updated through a formal
review process involving key partners?

Question 62

Do you agree there should be flexibility for local authorities to ask questions
about local widening participation measures?

Question 63

Do you agree questions should be included in the survey about candidates’
experiences of abuse and harassment (see the section on “other measures we
are taking to ensure candidates safety”)?

Question 64

Do you think Welsh Ministers should approve the full set of questions or only the
core all-Wales questions?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 126

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Chapter 6

Question 65

What are your views on the impact of maintaining the current renewal time of 5
years in light of the Elections Act 2022 changes?

Question 66

Would you like to see advance voting and /or voting in a range of venues offered
for devolved elections across Wales?

Question 67

Do you support the introduction of an online absent voting application system in
Wales? If yes, what would you like to see in place?

Question 68a

Do you think that such a system would help to reduce the number of postal
votes rejected due to errors on PVS’ and help raise public confidence in the
postal voting system?

Question 68b

Could a manual system be used to do this?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 127

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 69

Would the introduction of a postal ballot tracking system, such as that described
above, create a significant administrative burden on local authority electoral
teams?

Question 70

Do you support the introduction of a postal vote e-tracking system in Wales?

Question 71

Do you support the wider introduction and use of Digital Registers for non-
reserved elections in Wales? What are the benefits or detriments of doing so?

Question 72

Are there any potential barriers to a wider introduction of Digital Registers?

Chapter 7

Question 73

To what extent do you agree or disagree that there should be mandatory training
and development for councillors?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 128

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 74

If Strongly Agree or agree to question 73, should this mandatory training and
development for councillors include principal councils and town and community
councils?

Question 75

If Strongly Agree or Agree to question 74, should the expectations for mandatory
training be different between principal councils and town and community
councils?

Question 76

If Strongly Agree or Agree to question 75, what proposals would you make for
areas to be included in mandatory training?

Question 77

If Strongly Agree or Agree that there should be mandatory training, do you
consider candidates should be asked to confirm their willingness to undertake it
as part of the nomination of candidates’ process?

Question 78

Should there then be sanctions for candidates who do not confirm they are
prepared to undertake mandatory training?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 129

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 79

Should a commitment to undertake mandatory training and development form
part of the oath successful candidates must take before being able to take up
their office?

Question 80

If Yes at Q79 what sanctions should apply to elected members for then not
undertaking mandatory training and development?

Question 81

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the policy proposal to bring
arrangements for Town and Community councillors into line with the
disqualification regime for principal council members in Wales, so that members
of Town and Community councils are disqualified from becoming a member of
the Senedd?

Question 82

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the grace period for all councillors
elected to the Senedd should be retained?

Question 83

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to assessing the
impacts of the proposals set out in the draft IIA? Do you have any comments?

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 130

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Question 84

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to assessing the
costs and benefits of the legislative proposals set out in the draft RIA?

Question 85

Are there other areas that should be considered as we develop the IIA and RIA
further?

Question 86

Please identify any other sources of data and information that we should
consider in the IIA and RIA ?

Question 87

We would like to know your views on the effects that our proposals for electoral
reform would have on the Welsh language, specifically on:

• opportunities for people to use Welsh, and
• on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than English

What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be
increased, or negative effects be mitigated?

Question 88

Please also explain how you believe the proposed policy could be formulated or

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 131

https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


changed so as to have:

• positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities for people to
use the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less
favourably than the English language, and

• no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language
and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English
language

Question 89

We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any comments on
any related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please tell us
below:

How to respond

Submit your comments by 10 January 2023, in any of the following ways:

• complete our online form
• download, complete our response form and

email elections.consultation@gov.wales
• download, complete our response form and post to:

Elections Division
Welsh Government
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3NQ

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 132

https://gov.wales/node/50426/respond-online
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2022-10/response-form.docx
mailto:elections.consultation@gov.wales
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2022-10/response-form.docx
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Your rights

Under the data protection legislation, you have the right:

• to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it
• to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data
• to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing
• for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’
• to (in certain circumstances) data portability
• to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who

is our independent regulator for data protection.

Responses to consultations are likely to be made public, on the internet or in a
report. If you would prefer your response to remain anonymous, please tell us.

For further details about the information the Welsh Government holds and its
use, or if you want to exercise your rights under the GDPR, please see contact
details below:

Data Protection Officer

Data Protection Officer
Welsh Government
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3NQ

E-mail: data.protectionofficer@gov.wales

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 133

https://gov.wales/electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper
mailto:data.protectionofficer@gov.wales
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


Information Commissioner’s Office

Information Commissioner’s Office
Wycliffe House
Water Lane
Wilmslow
Cheshire
SK9 5AF

Telephone: 01625 545 745 or 0303 123 1113

Website: ico.org.uk

UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)

The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide
as part of your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory
powers they will rely on to process this personal data which will enable them to
make informed decisions about how they exercise their public functions. Any
response you send us will be seen in full by Welsh Government staff dealing
with the issues which this consultation is about or planning future consultations.
Where the Welsh Government undertakes further analysis of consultation
responses then this work may be commissioned to be carried out by an
accredited third party (e.g. a research organisation or a consultancy company).
Any such work will only be undertaken under contract. Welsh Government’s
standard terms and conditions for such contracts set out strict requirements for
the processing and safekeeping of personal data. In order to show that the
consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh Government intends to publish
a summary of the responses to this document. We may also publish responses
in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the address) of the person or
organisation who sent the response are published with the response. If you do

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 134

https://ico.org.uk/
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


not want your name or address published, please tell us this in writing when you
send your response. We will then redact them before publishing.

You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information
legislation. If your details are published as part of the consultation response then
these published reports will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held
otherwise by Welsh Government will be kept for no more than three years.

Further information and related documents

Number: WG45246

You can view this document in alternative languages. If you need it in a
different format, please contact us.

This document may not be fully accessible.
For more information refer to our accessibility statement.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html for the latest
version.
Get information on copyright. Page 135

https://gov.wales/alternative-languages
https://gov.wales/contact-welsh-government
https://gov.wales/accessibility-statement-govwales
https://gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://gov.wales/copyright-statement


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

To note the Welsh Government consultation paper in to Electoral Administration and 

Reform and consider submitting a response to the consultation.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That councillors consider the paper, in particular the question regarding the term of local 
councillors, and whether a response should be submitted.   

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 
3.1 The Wales Act 2017 devolved responsibility for local and Senedd elections to Welsh 

Government and since that time have reviewed and amended the way local and Senedd 
elections in Wales have been administered through the Senedd and Elections (Wales) Act 
2020 and the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021.  

 
3.2 The White Paper attached to this report is the next phase of Welsh Governments work in 

reviewing the electoral arrangements within Wales and are seeking views on a number of 
wide ranging areas to direct their work.  

 
3.3 The white paper covers topics including:  

 Electronic remote voting and electoral pilots 

 Creation of an all-wales database of electoral registrations 

 A review of some of the conditions of the Elections Act 2022 

 Creation of an Electoral Management Board for Wales 

 Automatic voter registration 

 The role of the Boundary Commission and how it conducts electoral reviews 
 
3.4 Many of these proposals will create a divergence in legislative processes between local and 

senedd elections and those that the UK Government has responsibility for including UK 
General elections and Police and Crime Commissioner elections. The impact of this 
divergence could lead to confusion amongst voters as to what elections they are registered 
to vote at. For example, electors could be automatically registered to vote for local and 
Senedd elections but still need to submit an application to register to vote for UK 
Parliamentary and PCC elections.  

 
3.5 Given the likelihood of some of these proposals to split views based on your political 

persuasion, there is no intention to submit a full response on behalf of the Democratic 
Services Committee and members are free to respond to the consultation as individual 
members or political groups if they choose to do so.  

 

SUBJECT: ELECTORAL ADMINISTRATION AND REFORM WHITE PAPER 

MEETING:               Democratic Services Committee 

DATE:             21 November 2022 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:    N/A 

 

Page 137



3.6 However, question 5 of the consultation refers to the electoral term for County and 
Community Council elections and directly impacts on elected members. Under the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 the term of council was changed from 4 years 
to 5. The aim of the change was to align electoral cycles so that the likelihood of combined 
polls for different governments was reduced, particularly as at the time of the Act receiving 
assent, the UK Government relied on the Fixed Term Parliaments Act which set UK General 
Elections to be held every five years.  

 
3.7 The Dissolution and Calling of Parliament Act 2022 removed the requirement for UK General 

elections to be held every five years and gave discretion back to the current Prime Minister 
to call an election. Therefore the intention of the five year cycle for local elections to avoid 
combined polls has been broken.  

 
3.8 The consultation therefore seeks views on whether a five year term for local councils should 

be retained and councillors may want to consider submitting a view as to its preference if a 
consensus is clear.  

 

4. REASONS: 

 To consider implications of the white paper on electoral administration and reform.  

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 None 

  

6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 There are no sustainable development or equality impacts arising from this report. 

 

7. SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING IMPLICATIONS 

 There are no safeguarding or corporate parenting implications associated with this report.  

  
8. CONSULTEES: 

Democratic Services Committee 
 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 None 

 

10. AUTHOR: 

John Pearson, Local Democracy Manager 
 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:       01633 644212 

 E-mail:     johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Page 138

mailto:johnpearson@monmouthshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaenorol
	Minutes

	4 Dyddiadur y Cyngor - 2023-24
	Draft Diary WIP 2

	5 Adroddiad Drafft y Panel Tâl 2022-23
	independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2023-2024 (1)
	Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales: draft annual report 2023 to 2024
	Contents
	Introduction
	Panel Membership

	Role and responsibilities of the Panel
	Role of the Panel
	Principles

	Summary of deliberations and determinations
	Methodology
	Panel’s Determinations for 2023 to 2024
	Basic salary for elected members of principal councils: determination 1
	Salaries paid to Senior, Civic and Presiding members of principal councils: determination 2
	Table 1: salaries payable to basic, senior, civic and presiding members of principal councils
	Group A
	Description

	Group B
	Description

	Group C
	Description


	Salaries for joint overview and scrutiny committees: determination 3
	Payments towards costs and expenses of members of community and town councils: determination 4
	Basic payment for extra costs of working from home
	Set payment for consumables
	Table 2: payments to community and town councils


	Payments to national parks authorities and fire and rescue authorities: determination 5
	Table 3: payments to national parks authorities and fire and rescue authorities
	National parks authorities
	Fire and rescue authorities







	6 Newid y System Bleidleisio – Etholiadau Lleol
	7 Papur Gwyn - Gweinyddu Etholiadol a Diwygio
	Consultation on the electoral administration and reform White Paper
	Contents
	Ministerial foreword
	Chapter 1: introduction
	Devolved elections policy
	Framework for electoral reform
	Senedd reform
	Structure of White Paper

	Chapter 2: long term vision for devolved elections
	Consolidating the law for accessibility and simplicity
	Enfranchising some prisoners from Wales
	Electronic remote voting/online absent voting
	Promoting diversity in democracy
	All-Wales database
	Monitoring impact of existing legislation
	Coincidence or combinations of elections: dissolution and Calling of Parliament Act 2022
	Digital imprints: Elections Act 2022
	Online nominations: Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021/2021 Rules
	Term lengths: Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021


	Chapter 3: simplifying electoral registration in Wales
	Restating the franchise
	Automatic registration
	Improving student and young people’s registration rates

	Chapter 4: strengthening electoral administration
	Electoral Management Board
	The Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales
	Principal Council Electoral Reviews
	Period for making Electoral Review Orders
	Maximum Periods for the Conduct of a Review and the Making of Decisions
	Pausing reviews
	The 10 year programme of electoral reviews
	Voter engagement
	Ward names
	Considerations for the review of Principal Area Electoral Arrangements
	Requirement for the Commission to set out the data sets used to underpin their review
	Further consultation on recommendations in the final report
	Submission of final reports to the Welsh ministers
	Implementation following an electoral review
	Publication and distribution of hard copies of reports and other documentation
	Community reviews
	Seaward boundaries
	Matters relating to electoral and other reviews not requiring legislation
	Functions of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales
	Technical, consequential, transitional and saving provision

	Campaign finance, expenses and political party spending
	Electoral pilots
	Returning Officers and requirements relating to the Welsh language

	Chapter 5: building democratic health
	Section A: for voters
	Accessible voter information
	Improving accessibility of electoral process for underrepresented people
	Education

	Section B: for candidates
	Strengthening of the undue influence electoral offence
	Other measures we propose to take on candidate safety
	Access to Elected Office Fund
	Local government candidates’ survey


	Chapter 6: modernising Welsh elections
	Advance voting
	Reforming postal and proxy voting
	Postal vote ballot tracking
	Digital registers

	Chapter 7: improving our democracy
	Training for elected members
	Changes to the disqualification regime for Local Councillors from also serving as Members of the Senedd
	Disqualification of Town and Community Councillors from serving as Members of the Senedd
	Removal of grace period for councillors elected to the Senedd
	Removal of grace period for Members of the Senedd elected councillors
	Impact assessments

	Consultation questions
	Chapter 1
	Question 1

	Chapter 2
	Question 2
	Question 3
	Question€4
	Question 5

	Chapter 3
	Question 6
	Question€7
	Question 8
	Question 9
	Question 10
	Question 11
	Question 12
	Question 12a

	Chapter 4
	Question 13
	Question 14
	Question 15
	Question 16
	Question 17
	Question 18
	Question 19a
	Question 19b
	Question 20
	Question 21
	Question 22
	Question 23
	Question€24
	Question 25
	Question 26
	Question 27
	Question 28
	Question 29
	Question 30
	Question 31
	Question 32
	Question 33
	Question 34
	Question 35
	Question 36
	Question 37
	Question 38
	Question 39
	Question 40
	Question 41
	Question 42
	Question 43
	Question 44

	Chapter 5
	Question 45
	Question 46
	Question 47
	Question 48
	Question 49
	Question 50
	Question 51
	Question 52
	Question 53
	Question 54
	Question 55
	Question 56
	Question€57
	Question 58
	Question 59
	Question 60
	Question 61
	Question€ 61a
	Question 62
	Question 63
	Question 64

	Chapter 6
	Question 65
	Question 66
	Question 67
	Question 68a
	Question 68b
	Question 69
	Question 70
	Question 71
	Question 72

	Chapter 7
	Question 73
	Question 74
	Question 75
	Question 76
	Question 77
	Question 78
	Question 79
	Question 80
	Question 81
	Question 82
	Question 83
	Question 84
	Question 85
	Question 86
	Question 87
	Question 88
	Question 89


	How to respond
	Your rights
	Data Protection Officer
	Information Commissioner’s Office
	UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)

	Further information and related documents

	Electoral Administration and Reform White Paper Report


